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Appendix A

Order Respecting Public Lands Appeal Board
Appeal No. 14-0024

With respect to Public Lands Appeal Board Appeal No. 14-0024,1, Shannon Phillips,
Minister of Alberta Environment and Parks, order as follows:

1. That the replacement disposition signed by the Director on June 18, 2014 be
formally issued to Penny Dunn by the Director with the following direction:

If Penny Dunn fails to execute the replacement disposition signed by the
Director on June 18, 2014, by signing it and returning it to the Director
within 60 days of the date of the Ministerial Order 25/2016, then the
Director may proceed to cancel the disposition as per section 39 of the
Public Lands Act

2. That the Director's actions to cancel the replacement disposition signed by the
Director on June 18, 2014, which were taken during the period of the stay issued
by the Board, are revoked.

3. That Public Lands Appeal Board Appeal No. 14-0024 is dismissed without costs.



Appeal No. PLAB 14-0024 

 

ALBERTA 

PUBLIC LANDS APPEAL BOARD 

Report 

 

 

IN THE MATTER OF the Public Lands Act, R.S.A. 2000, c. P-40, as 

amended, and the Public Lands Administration Regulation, A.R. 

187/2011, as amended; 

 

-and- 

 

IN THE MATTER OF an appeal filed by Penny Dunn 

 

 

 

 

 

Cite as: Dunn v. Director, Environment and Sustainable Resource Development et al.,  

 Appeal No. PLAB 14-0024.  



Table of Contents 
 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY ........................................................................................................ 4 

FINDINGS OF FACT BASED ON THE RECORD ....................................................................... 8 

Introduction ................................................................................................................... 8 

The Issuance of the FGL in 1997 [FGL #1] ....................................................................... 9 

Issuance of a Replacement FGL in 2002 [FGL #2] ............................................................. 9 

The Period of Overholding Tenancy & Lack of Policy Development in Respect of the Renewal 
Process .......................................................................................................................... 9 

The Issuance of the SME for Gravel Exploration ...............................................................10 

Minich Accesses the FGL and Completes the Exploration Activity Authorized by the SME ......13 

Ms. Dunn Asserts an Intent to Appeal to the Surface Rights Board, Complains to the Premier 
about Minich’s Access to the FGL and Alleges Persecution By Alberta .................................13 

Alleged Breaches of the Terms and Conditions of the Forest Grazing Licence by Ms. Dunn ...15 

The Application for a Surface Material Licence [SMC] ........................................................15 

The Director Formulates a Strategy for Dealing with Ms. Dunn ..........................................16 

Efforts to Communicate with Ms. Dunn As Regards Her Consent to the SME .......................18 

The Decision to Alter the Boundaries of the FGL ...............................................................26 

Approval of the SMC ......................................................................................................31 

Ms. Dunn Asserts an Intent to Appeal the Issuance of SMC 130005 ...................................31 

Signature of the Replacement Grazing Licence Disposition by the Director & Uncertainty over 
the Date when the Boundaries were Amended .................................................................31 

Unsuccessful Efforts to Work with Ms. Dunn to Identify Additional Lands including those 
which May Provide Convenient Access to the FGL .............................................................33 

An Appeal is Filed with the Board by Ms. Dunn .................................................................35 

Events After the Appeal Filed by Ms. Dunn as Revealed in the Record ................................36 

Preliminary Matters ...........................................................................................................37 

ISSUES ............................................................................................................................39 

SUBMISSIONS OF THE APPELLANT ....................................................................................40 

SUBMISSIONS OF MINICH .................................................................................................42 

SUBMISSIONS OF THE DIRECTOR ......................................................................................43 

REASONS OF THE PANEL ...................................................................................................48 

2 | P a g e  
 



Analysis by the Public Lands Appeal Board .......................................................................48 

COSTS .............................................................................................................................53 

OBSERVATIONS ................................................................................................................53 

RECOMMENDATIONS ........................................................................................................54 

LIST OF APPENDICES ........................................................................................................55 

 

 

3 | P a g e  
 



EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
[1] On October 1, 2014, the Director [used here to refer to the Director and staff of 
the Department of Alberta Environment and Parks (AEP), until 2015 known as 
Environment and Sustainable Resource Development (ESRD) and referred to in this 
report as “Department”, acting under the authority of the Director duly designated 
under the Public Lands Act, RSA 2000, c. P-40, s. 1(d.1),] communicated to Penny 
Dunn [Ms. Dunn] as follows: 

 
“A timeline of October 14, 2014 was agreed to in regards to your response to 
either: 
 

• Accept the additional area to be amended into FGL 970007 [the 
replacement FGL with a term from 2012 to 2022], or  
 

• Accept the renewal area as currently provided [in the replacement FGL 
with the term from 2012 to 2022]. 

If no response is received by October 14, 2014, the renewal provided will be 
cancelled and FGL 9700078 will be removed from the records of the Department, 
and all improvements, including fencing, must be removed.” 

The communication of October 1, 2014, as clarified by a second email of October 1, 
2014, sent later that day, constitute the Decision which is the subject of this appeal [the 
Director’s Decision of October 1, 2014].  Appendix H to this Decision of the Board is a 
copy of both of the Director’s emails dated October 1, 2014.1  Both emails, together, 
constitute the Director’s Decision of October 1, 2014.     
 
[2] One of these two dispositions had been signed by the Director on June 18, 2014, 
and is referred to in the Director’s Decision of October 1, 2014, as “the replacement 
FGL [Forest Grazing Licence] with the term from 2012 to 2022”. This replacement 
disposition is referred to later in these Reasons as FGL #3, and is attached as Appendix 
G to this Decision of the Board.   

 
[3] On October 8, 2014, Ms. Dunn filed an appeal of the Director’s Decision of 
October 1, 2014 to the Public Lands Appeal Board (the Board). 

 

1 Record, Tab 107. 
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[4] On October 9, 2014, the Board issued against the Director a stay in proceeding 
to act upon the Director’s Decision of October 1, 2014, until such time as the appeal 
may be heard.  It appears that the Director has wrongfully ignored the stay, by 
purporting to cancel a replacement disposition signed by the Director on June 18, 2014, 
and referred to in the Director’s Decision of October 1, 2014, as “the replacement FGL 
with the term from 2012 to 2022”. 

 
[5] The appeal arises because there was a conflict between Ms. Dunn and a third 
party referred to under various names in the Record.  For simplicity, the third party and 
its agents are referred to here as Minich Oilfield Services [“Minich”].   
 
[6] Ms. Dunn was an overholding tenant pursuant to s. 20(3) of the Public Lands 
Administration Regulations. The Director treated the terms and conditions of this 
overholding tenancy as identical to the terms and conditions in the expired FGL 
disposition.  Ms. Dunn is, in this sense, ‘the holder of a disposition’ within the meaning 
of that term in s. 15(4) of the Act.  Minich was the holder of a disposition concerning a 
part of the same land. 

 
[7] It is clear to the Board that the Director has made every reasonable effort to 
resolve the dispute between Minich and Ms. Dunn, and that all reasonable efforts in this 
respect have failed. 

 
[8] The circumstances before the Director on June 18, 2014, and at all material 
times thereafter, were that there was conflict between Ms. Dunn and Minich, both of 
whom were holders of dispositions concerning a part of the same parcel of land.  The 
Board finds that the Director acted reasonably in signing the replacement FGL signed by 
the Director on June 18, 2014, with the term from 2012 to 2022.    

 
[9] The sole issue advanced before the Board by Counsel for the Appellant involves 
characterization of what was done by the Director as a “renewal”.  The Appellant 
argues that power to renew does not include power to vary boundaries of the prior 
disposition.   

 
[10] The Board finds that this was not a renewal of the disposition, as alleged by 
Appellant.  The Board finds that signing the disposition was the first step towards the 
issuance of a replacement disposition through the exercise of powers conferred on the 
Director by s. 15(4) of the Public Lands Act, and s. 20(3) and s. 64(1)(b) of the Public 
Lands Administration Regulations.  Given the difficult history involving communications 
with Ms. Dunn, outlined below, signing that replacement disposition was a reasonable 
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exercise of the powers conferred on the Director by s. 15(4) of the Public Lands Act, 
and s. 20(3) and s. 64(1)(b) of the Public Lands Administration Regulations.   

 
[11] The Board finds that the Director signed a replacement disposition on June 18, 
2014; however, the Board finds that the evidence in the Record does not establish, on a 
balance of probabilities, that the Director formally issued that replacement licence to 
Ms. Dunn in accordance with s. 39 of the Public Lands Act.  The Board is not satisfied 
that the Record establishes that the replacement disposition signed by the Director on 
June 18, 2014, was properly issued.  Therefore, that disposition has not yet taken 
effect.  Ms. Dunn remains an overholding tenant on terms and conditions set out in the 
expired disposition described later in these Reasons as FGL #2. 

 
[12] If the disposition had been formally “issued” by the Director, then the conflict 
between Ms. Dunn and Minich may have been resolved since all lands on which gravel 
extraction could occur would be removed from the “the replacement FGL with the term 
from 2012 to 2022”.  Since the replacement FGL signed by the Director on June 18, 
2014, with the term from 2012 to 2022, was not formally issued, a conflict remains, and 
all reasonable means of resolving the conflict have been exhausted. 

 
[13] In these appellate proceedings the Board has remedial powers defined in s. 
124(2) of the Public Lands Act.  The Board may recommend that the Minister vary the 
decision appealed from; and, further, the advisory power of the Board to recommend 
variance extends to recommendations that the Minister exercise power under s. 124(3) 
of the Public Lands Act to make any further Order necessary to resolve the dispute 
between Ms. Dunn and Minich.   

 
[14] The Board therefore recommends variance of the decision of October 1, 2014.  
The Board specifically recommends that the Minister exercise power conferred by s. 
124(3) of the Public Lands Act, to Order the issuance to Ms. Dunn of the replacement 
disposition signed by the Director on June 18, 2014.  The disposition, including its 
amended boundaries and terms and conditions, will be effective upon formal issuance 
in accordance with procedures in s. 36(2) of the Public Lands Act.  The Board is of the 
opinion that personal delivery to Ms. Dunn would provide the best proof of formal 
issuance.  When the replacement disposition is formally issued by personal service on 
Ms. Dunn, the replacement disposition is effective by virtue of s. 39(2)(b) of the Public 
Lands Act.   
 
[15] If Ms. Dunn seeks additional lands for grazing, she is able to either (i) make 
application for a formal disposition in accordance with s. 9 of the Public Lands 
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Administration Regulation, or (ii) request the Director exercise power under s. 64(b) of 
the Public Lands Administration Regulation to amend the boundaries of the replacement 
disposition signed by the Director and issued pursuant to the Order of the Minister. 

 
[16] The Board therefore recommends that the Minister:  

 
• vary the Director’s Decision of October 1, 2014 by exercising powers 

conferred on the Minister by s. 124(3) of the Act, to make the decision which 
the Director could have made in order to resolve the dispute between Ms. 
Dunn and Minich;  

 
• order that the replacement disposition signed by the Director on June 18, 

2014, should now be issued to Ms. Dunn by the Director with the following 
direction: 

 
• that if Ms. Dunn fails to execute and return the replacement disposition 

signed by the Director on June 18, 2014, by signing it and returning it to the 
Director within 60 days of the date of the Order of the Minister conveying the 
Minister’s decision in this appeal, then s. 39 of the Public Lands Act authorizes 
the Director to cancel the disposition; 

 
• that the Director’s action in purporting to cancel the replacement disposition 

signed by the Director on June 18, 2014, during the stay issued by the Board  
is revoked. 

 
[17] Ms. Dunn has exercised a right of appeal in relation to the issuance of a 
disposition.  That issuance was offered to her on October 1, 2014, with consequences 
for failure to respond.  The Board notes that s. 126 of the Public Lands Act grants to 
the Minister exclusive and final jurisdiction to make an order necessary to resolve this 
matter, and that no decision, order, direction, ruling, proceeding, report or 
recommendation of the Minister or the appeal body shall be questioned or reviewed in 
any court, and no order shall be made or process entered or proceedings taken in any 
court to question, review, prohibit or restrain the Minister or the appeal body or any of 
its proceedings.   
 
[18] The Board is of the view that the Record reveals numerous uncertainties 
amongst the Director’s officials, and that these may be attributed to:  (1) the absence 
of policy development in respect of the renewal process for a grazing licence; and (2) 
the dynamics of the relationship between overlapping dispositions involving gravel 
exploration and extraction and grazing licence tenure.  While not making any specific 
recommendation in this regard, the Board wishes to express its view that that policy 
development in these two areas would be beneficial in avoiding the kinds of errors and 
uncertainties which occurred in this case. 
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FINDINGS OF FACT BASED ON THE RECORD  

 
Introduction 

[19] The parties disagree on many material facts, and it is therefore necessary for the 
Board to review the facts of the case in some detail. 
 
[20] The Written Submissions of the parties reveals that the Appellant and the 
Director disagree on many facts and issues, including whether or not boundaries for the 
disposition in issue in this case [FGL 970007] were changed by the Director prior to the 
commencement of this appeal.2   

 
[21] When the Board reviewed the Record in this case, the Board found that the 
Submissions of the parties did not address all of the material evidence in the Record.  
In particular, Counsel for the Appellant and the Director did not address the 
replacement disposition contained in the Record and, for greater certainty, attached as 
Appendix G to this Decision of the Board.  That licence was signed on June 18, 2014, by 
the Director, but is not specifically referred to in any of the Written Submissions 
provided by either the Appellant or the Director. 

 
[22] The Record provided by the Director reveals use of the term ‘renew’ in relation to 
that disposition.  The word ‘renewal’ appears in the Director’s Decision of October 1, 
2014.  The Director’s legal position, however, is that a renewal could not legally occur.3  
Unfortunately, the Director’s submissions do not attempt to explain the particular use of 
the term ‘renew’ by the Director throughout the Record, including the use of that term 
in the Director’s Decision of October 1, 2014. 

 
[23] The Board has carefully reviewed the Record provided by the Director in this 
case, and has carefully considered the Written Submissions filed by all of the parties.  
Based on this review, the Board has found it necessary to make the following findings 
of fact.  
  

2 The Appellant’s position on this specific point about boundaries is contained in paragraph 7 of the Written 
Submissions of the Appellant dated August 10, 2015.  The Director’s position on this point in contained in 
paragraph 75 of the Submission of the Director dated August 17, 2015. 
3 The Director’s position on this point in contained in paragraph 81(a) of the Submission of the Director dated 
August 17, 2015. 
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The Issuance of the FGL in 1997 [FGL #1] 
 
[24] In 1997 Forest Grazing Licence No 970007 [FGL #1] was issued to Ms. Dunn by 
the Director.4  FGL #1, the 1997 disposition, is attached as Appendix A.  The total lands 
described in this disposition were 153.49 acres more or less, and the location of these 
lands is shown on a map included with the FGL.  FGL #1 authorized Ms. Dunn to graze 
livestock that she owned on the land described in the Licence.  The effective date of 
this disposition was September 1, 1997, and the expiry date was August 31, 2002.  
Schedule C of the FGL in Appendix A contained Terms and Conditions applicable to FGL 
#1. 

 
[25] The term of FGL #1 expired on August 31, 2002, without being renewed; but 
Ms. Dunn did not vacate the land upon the expiry of this disposition.  

Issuance of a Replacement FGL in 2002 [FGL #2] 
 

[26] On March 10, 2004, the Director provided a new disposition to Ms. Dunn, as a 
replacement for the expired FGL #1.  The replacement was a disposition also called 
Forest Grazing Licence No 970007.  This second disposition referred to as FGL #2 in 
this decision, and is attached as Appendix B to this Decision of the Board5.  FGL #2 
contemplated the very same 153.49 acres, more or less, which had been the subject of 
the 1997 disposition.  The effective date of the replacement disposition was backdated 
to September 1, 2002; and the expiry date was August 31, 2012.  Ms. Dunn was 
authorized by this disposition to graze certain livestock that she owned on the lands 
described in the licence.  Schedule C of FGL #2 again contained Terms and Conditions 
applicable to FGL #2.  These included the following: 

 
• that the availability of use by others is a consideration at the time of 

disposition renewal.  
 
[27] The term of FGL #2 expired on September 1, 2012.  Again, Ms. Dunn did not 
vacate the land.  She did not, on or before the expiry of the term of FGL, apply to 
renew the FGL.   

 

The Period of Overholding Tenancy & Lack of Policy Development in 
Respect of the Renewal Process 

[28] The Director accepted Ms. Dunn’ continuing tenure on the basis that she was an 
overholding tenant on a month-to-month basis in respect of the subject land.  The 

4 Record, Tab 121. 
5 Record, Tab 33. 
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Director’s position was described in an email to Ms. Dunn by Dave Hugelschaffer [Mr. 
Hugelschaffer] on October 1, 2013.    He wrote: 

 
“Since the Public Lands Administration Regulation [PLAR] took effect all public 
lands dispositions that expire must be applied for as a renewal.  Unfortunately, 
due to the magnitude of the work required to implement PLAR many processes 
are still awaiting development, including the renewal process.  This places all 
expired dispositions, your FGL included, in what is termed a state of ‘over-
holding tenancy.’  The department continues to allow the use of the lands of 
these expired and overholding dispositions to continue for the time being under 
the same basic conditions, pending the renewal process.” 

 

The Issuance of the SME for Gravel Exploration 
 
[29] In about April of 2013, the Department approved the issuance to a third party of 
a disposition known as Surface Material Exploration [SME].  The third party to whom 
the SME was issued is referred to under various names in the Record and, for simplicity, 
is referred to here as Minich.  The SME is a short term disposition authorizing the 
disposition holder to conduct exploration for gravel.  At this time Minich sought to 
explore for gravel which might be used in relation to Coalspur Coal Mine Project near 
Hinton, Alberta.  

 
[30] The SME authorized exploration activity on lands which had been encompassed 
within FGL #2.  FGL #2 was expired at this time, but these lands were then the subject 
of an overholding tenancy with the same terms and conditions as FGL #2.  Since there 
were overlapping dispositions, the Director told Minich that it had to have Ms. Dunn’s 
consent before undertaking exploration in accordance with the SME.6  A condition to 
this effect was added into the SME.  Officials also advised the Minister of Department, 
that the holder of the FGL had to consent to the exploration activity authorized by the 
SME.7  The Record reflects the following conversation with the Minister: 

 
“The Honourable Robin Campbell left a message with Brenda Huxley, 
Aggregate Administrator, today, April 25, 2013 inquiring if the Surface Material 
Exploration (SME) holder required consent to access the Forest Grazing Licence 
(FGL) for aggregate exploration. There was an information request on this item 
as well from the FGL holder (AR 53210), in which Shelly Currie responded to. 
Brenda returned the call and advised Mr. Campbell that the SME holder would 
have to get a form of consent from the FGL holder to get on the land to 

6 Record, Tab 1, Email from Trevor Laycock to Dave Hugelschaffer, April 9, 2013, at 11:02 am. 
7 Record, Tab 4, Email from Melissa Styba, April 26, 2013, at 5:12 pm:  “The Honourable Robin Campbell “ 
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complete exploration. If the SME holder can't get consent for access from the 
FGL holder, then they may have to go to the Surface Right Board to obtain 
some right of entry.” 

 
[31] Ms. Dunn refused this consent. The Record reflects that Ms. Dunn told a 
Government official that “the contractor refused to listen to her husband on the 
subject.”8  Employees from Minich told Government officials that “[t]hey were 
concerned over having to work with the Dunns in the future”9 because “threats were 
made if they were to access the land”10 and “they are concerned over their personal 
safety if they go onto the Dunns lease [sic].”11 

 
[32] The Director then changed its position on whether the holder of an SME required 
consent from the holder of an FGL.  The Record reflects the following steps were taken: 

“The initial SME approval, dated April 2, 2013, indicated that consent through 
condition 050 "The holder shall obtain written consent from Len Ramstead and 
Penny I Dunn, holders of the Grazing Lease/Farm Development Lease No. FGL 
970006 and FGL 970007 prior to entry on the agricultural lease land, and 
provide the lease holder with a copy of the approval 5 day prior to 
commencement of activity" was required. Then a second letter was sent April 
8, 2013, removing condition 50. Then a third letter was sent, April 12, 2013 
adding a condition 32 "The holder shall indemnify and hold harmless the 
Department, his employees and agents, from any and all claims, demands, 
actions and costs whatsoever that may arise, directly or indirectly, out of any 
act or omission of the holder, its employees or agents in the perfomance  by 
the holder of this authority ...... ". This letter was never received by the client 
as it was returned to ESRD noting illegal address.”12 

 
The Board finds that the SME issued to Minich authorized exploration activity on a 
Forest Grazing Licence, not a grazing lease or farm development lease.  At all material 
times, the FGL in question was issued to Penny Dunn, only.  Len Ramstead is not 
identified in the FGL as having any interest in it.   
 
[33] The Record contains various explanations for this change of position.  The Board 
is of the view that uncertainties arose amongst the Director’s officials in this case, and 
that these may be attributed to the absence of policy development in respect of the 

8 Record, Tab 1, Email from Angela Nagel, April 9, 2013, at 12:05 pm.  
9 Record, Tab 1, Email from Angela Nagel April 9, 2013, at 12:05 pm. 
10 Record, Tab 2, Email from Tenille Kupsch, April 9, 2013, at 4:10 pm. 
11 Record, Tab 1, Email from Angela Nagel, April 9, 2013, at 12:05 pm. 
12 Record, Tab 4, Email from Melissa Styba, April 26, 2013, at 5:12 pm. 
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renewal process for an FGL and also the dynamics of the relationship between gravel 
exploration and extraction and FGL tenure.   
 
[34] The Record reflects that Department officials acknowledged that “since 2005 we 
have been applying condition 50 to all SMEs.”13  Email communications between 
Department officials proceeded to distinguish between disposition types, stating: 
“Consent requirements outlined in conditions 050 and 071 apply to agricultural leases 
only” (bolding in original).14  Email communications between Alberta officials also went 
on to state that there should be no requirement for consent from an FGL holder to 
exploration activity under an SME:  

 
“In general, the intent of the legislation is that a grazing license is a much 
smaller bundle of rights than a lease. According to PLAR and staff who work with 
FGLs, consent is not needed for exploration access of any kind on a grazing 
license. In fact, most if not all FGLs (including the Dunns') contain a clause that 
specifically states that the holder shall allow exploration access if ESRD grants an 
approval for such. In our view, there should be no requirement for consent from 
an FGL holder to an SME holder. There should be a requirement to contact them 
to work out details of the access, but not consent. 

There is a gap in policy and practice, however, over what happens if gravel is 
found in commercial quantities. The development area would need to be 
withdrawn from the FGL. There is provision in PLAR for ESRD to amend an FGL 
and that no compensation is payable. We don't have any policy around that, 
though.”15 
 

[35] These discussions ultimately led to a change in the Director’s position respecting 
the necessity of obtaining consent for entry to an FGL for the purposes of completing 
exploration work under an SME.16  This change of position was purportedly 
communicated to Minich and to Ms. Dunn in a meeting in Hinton, Alberta, on May 3, 
2013.  
 
[36] A formal letter was sent to Minich on May 10, 2013, providing “a written 
summary of the rights of a Forest Grazing Licence (FGL) holder with respect to surface 
materials exploration and development.”17  The Record contains an anonymous Memo 
to File which asserts that “Letters were sent out Friday May 10, 2013, to both the 

13 Record, Tab 4, Email from Joanne Sweeney, April 12, 2013, at 10:52 am. 
14 Record, Tab 4, Email from Rob Kesseler, April 12, 2013, at 12:02 pm.  
15 Record, Tab, Email from Helen Newsham dated April 12, 2013, at 9:57 a.m. 
16 Record Tab 24, Letter from Matthew Machiese to Penny Dunn dated July 25, 2013. 
17 Record, Tab 8, Letter from Tennille Kupsch, May 10, 2013. 
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Dunn’s and SME holder that address issues that were brought up on May 3, 2013 
meeting in Hinton.”18  However, the Record in this case does not contain a letter to Ms. 
Dunn.  The Board finds that if such a letter was sent to Ms. Dunn, it should have been 
included with the Director’s Record in this case.  Since it is not in the Record, the Board 
finds that it was not sent. 

 

Minich Accesses the FGL and Completes the Exploration Activity 
Authorized by the SME 

 
[37] On May 13, 2014, Minich was able to access the FGL lands for exploration 
activity authorized by the overlapping SME.  This was done without consent of Ms. 
Dunn.19  Minich requested that Government officials attend to observe their work, 
because of a concern that Minich would be locked out or otherwise prevented from 
undertaking the work by Ms. Dunn or her husband.  Government officials did not 
attend, but Minich was able to enter the lands contemplated by FGL #2.  Minich 
conducted the exploration activity authorized by its SME in a brief period of time.   

 

Ms. Dunn Asserts an Intent to Appeal to the Surface Rights Board, 
Complains to the Premier about Minich’s Access to the FGL and Alleges 
Persecution By Alberta 

 
[38] On May 10, 2014, Minich called Ms. Dunn to advise her of Minich’s intent to 
access the FGL, and Ms. Dunn advised Minich that “she had been in touch with the 
Surface Rights Board and that she would be appealing the ESRD decision to grant an 
SME without the FGL holder’s consent.”20  It is not clear to the Board that Ms. Dunn 
took steps to initiate an appeal.  Nothing in the Record before the Board indicates that 
an appeal was initiated. 
 
[39] Ms. Dunn subsequently complained to the Premier of alleged damage done by 
Minich during its brief access to the FGL.21  On July 25, 2014, an Assistant Deputy 
Minister responded to the letter to the Premier.  This response confirmed that the 
Director had changed practice in respect of requiring the holder of an SME to obtain 

18 Record, Tab 11, anonymous Memo to File re Conversation with Penny Dunn, May 13, 2013. 
19 Record, Tab 14, Email from Terry Dodge, May 14, 2013. 
20 Record, Tab 14, Email from Terry Dodge, May 14, 2013. 
21 Record, Tab 9, Letter to Premier Redford, cc Wildrose Party, May 13, 2013. 
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consent from holders of FGLs prior to undertaking exploration activity, and asked for 
the cooperation of Ms. Dunn.   

 
[40] The Assistant Deputy Minister directed Ms. Dunn to communicate with Mr. 
Hugelschaffer.  It appears to the Board that, at about this time, Mr. Hugelschaffer had 
been nominated by the Director as a primary point of contact between the Director and 
Ms. Dunn.  As Mr. Hugelschaffer began to undertake his work in this capacity, he 
sought a meeting with Ms. Dunn in respect of three issues in particular:  

 
• alleged breach of the terms and conditions of FGL 970007; 
• renewal of FGL 970007; and  
• consent of Ms. Dunn anticipated in relation to a Surface Materials Licence [SMC]  

which Minich had applied for. 
 

[41] With respect to the complaint by Ms. Dunn to the Premier that damage was 
caused by Minich during its exploration activities under the SME issued to it, 
Government officials inspected the disposition in question to look for damage and took 
photographs during this inspection.22  These officials concluded that “no damage had 
been done” and that Minich had exercised due diligence in crossing a small permanent 
creek. 23  Government officials also disagreed with Ms. Dunn’s allegation that a lock on 
a fence had been cut and replaced in the process of obtaining access. 24  Conclusions 
were communicated to Ms. Dunn on July 25, 2013:  “ESRD staff inspected the area 
operated under SME 130027. We found minimal impact to the area and confirmed that 
no work had been completed outside of the approved exploration area.”25 

 
[42] A letter to the Premier was sent by Ms. Dunn to Tennille Kupsch, an Department 
official at the meeting with Ms. Dunn held in Hinton, Alberta, on May 3, 2013.  The 
covering letter to Mr. Kupsh states:  “We’ve sent the attached letter to Premier Redford.  
Thanks for nothing.  You’ve dealt with none of my concerns, you have obviously lied to 
us.  Do not contact us by phone, any further communication with you will be in the 
form of a letter.”26  An email electronically signed by Ms. Dunn was sent directly to the 
Office of the Premier by Bill Dunn on Sunday, May 5, 2013, at 11:42 pm, stating in part:  
“It’s official, SRD is maliciously persecuting us with regard to our FGL.”   
 

22 Record, Tab 12, Notes to File; and Tab 13, Email from Angela Nagel, May 21 2013, at 8:52 am. 
23 Record, Tab 12, Notes to File; and Tab 13, Email from Angela Nagel, May 21 2013, at 8:52 am. 
24 Record, Tab 13, Email from Angela Nagel, May 21 2013, at 8:52 am. 
25 Record, Tab 22, Letter from Dave Hubelschaffer, July 25, 2015.  
26 Record, Tab 9, Letter from Bill and Penny Dunn, stamped as received by Fish & Wildlife Division on May 15, 1015. 
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Alleged Breaches of the Terms and Conditions of the Forest Grazing 
Licence by Ms. Dunn 

 
[43] The record contains some communications between the Director and Ms. Dunn, 
respecting alleged breaches of the terms and conditions of the overholding tenancy 
flowing from FGL #2 observed by Department officials during the inspection associated 
with the complaint of damage by Minich, and also on July 8, 2013.27  Ms. Dunn disputed 
these claims,28 and expressed a concern that her interest in the FGL “was to be taken 
from her (cancelled).”29   

 
[44] With respect to the allegations that Ms. Dunn was in breach of the terms and 
conditions of the overholding tenancy flowing from FGL #2, the Director submits in 
paragraph 20 of its Written Submissions dated August 17, 2015, that the Director “did 
not cancel the rights of the Appellants” and that the Director “preferred to work with 
them to resolve the issues, if possible.”  The Board accepts this statement as an 
accurate statement of fact, and therefore does not find it necessary to make findings as 
to whether, or not, the alleged breaches existed in fact.   

 
[45] It was alleged by the Director that refusal to consent to the exploration activities 
under the SME issued to Minich constituted a breach by Ms. Dunn of the terms and 
conditions of the overholding tenancy flowing from FGL #2.  The Board notes that the 
Department itself initially imposed the necessity of seeking consent from Ms. Dunn 
upon Minich as a specific condition in the SME which it first issued to Minich.  Insertion 
of such a clause in an SME was then a provincial wide practice.  This practice was 
apparently discontinued, on a province wide basis, as a result of the lessons learned by 
the Director through the Minich-Dunn experience.  Although Ms. Dunn continued to 
resist the legality of that access, this resistance is included within the Director’s 
statement that the Director “did not cancel the rights of the Appellants” but instead 
“preferred to work with them to resolve the issues, if possible.” The Board does not find 
it necessary to make findings as to whether, or not, Ms. Dunn’s refusal of consent to 
the exploration activity authorized by the SME constituted a breach of the terms and 
conditions of her overholding tenancy flowing from FGL #2.   
 

The Application for a Surface Material Licence [SMC] 
 

27 Record, Tab 16 to 23 and Tab 25 to 29.   
28 Record, Tab 19, Letter from Bill and Penny Dunn to Tennille Kupsch, July 4, 2013. 
29 Record, Tab 29, Email from Dave Hugelschaffer, September 6, 2013, at 2:21 pm. 
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[46] On May 19, 2013, Minich applied for an SMC authorizing the extraction of sand 
and gravel from a parcel of land comprising some 1.67 hectares [4.1 acres, more or 
less] located within the boundary of the overholding tenancy flowing from FGL #2.  The 
Application is attached as Appendix C to this Report of the Board.30  The SMC is a short 
term disposition, authorizing the holder of the SMC to occupy public land under the 
licence to remove surface material by surface excavation.   
 
At the time of the application, a surface material licence [SMC] was defined in the 
Public Lands Administration Regulation as a formal disposition and the Director’s 
position was that Minich’s application for a formal disposition [the SMC] within the 
boundaries of the overholding tenancy which flowed from FGL 970007 required the 
consent of Ms. Dunn  
 
[47] On September 4, 2013, Minich sent a request for consent form to Ms. Dunn by 
registered mail.31  That is attached as Exhibit D to this Decision.  The withdrawal form 
sought Ms. Dunn’s consent “to the withdrawal of a portion of the lands comprising the 
said lease” so that they could be issued to Minich via a disposition for the purpose of 
sand and gravel removal. 32 
 

The Director Formulates a Strategy for Dealing with Ms. Dunn 
 
[48] Minich also wrote to the Minister, the Honourable Diane McQueen.33  The letter 
to the Minister is not included in the Record filed in this appeal, but was attached by 
Minich to its Written Submissions.  Minich’s letter to the Minister triggered the necessity 
of a Briefing Note to the Minister. 34  The Board will make its decision based on the 
Record in this case, and refers to the letter to the Minister here only insofar as that 
letter is referred to in documents which are a part of the Record in this appeal. 

 
[49] Mr. Hugelschaffer became involved in the development of the Briefing Note to be 
prepared in relation to Minich’s letter to the Minister.  Mr. Hugelschaffer plan was to 
advise Minich and the Minister that consent was required, facilitate a meeting between 
the parties to see if the matter of consent could be resolved, and to develop a strategy 
internally if Ms. Dunn refused consent.  The meeting would be formally documented in 

30 Record, Tab 43. 
31 Record, Tab 32, Letter to P. Dunn from Terry Dodge, September 4, 2013. 
32 Record, Tab 32, Letter to P. Dunn from Terry Dodge, September 4, 2013. 
33 Record, Tab 25, Email from Dave Hugelschaffer, September 03, 2013, at 2:17 pm.   
34 Record, Tab 25, Email from Julie Lefebvre, August 13, 2013, at 12:39 pm. 
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case Ms. Dunn was to appeal.  All of this was documented on September 3, 2013, when 
Mr. Hugelschaffer wrote: 

“I just spoke with Terry Dodge, who submitted the letter which triggered the AR. 
He has not yet had any communication with the FGL holder regarding consent, 
and sent his letter to Minister McQueen in anticipation of a refusal for consent 
(based on past dealings with the FGL holder). I explained that he will still need 
to formally request consent, as part of the application process, and if he is 
denied, request their reason for denial. 
 
In responding to the letter to Minister McQueen, we need only to detail why 
consent is required. How we will proceed if consent is refused does not need to 
be in the letter, but we should have a strategy in place internally. As I had noted 
previously, my step would be to schedule a meeting with both parties to sort out 
what concerns exist and attempt facilitation of an agreement. The meeting would 
be documented to support the Department's land management decision, and as 
input into any appeal.”35 

 
[50] During communications internal to the Department, Mr. Hugelschaffer received 
comment from Helen Newsham about how the SMC might be issued as an overlapping 
disposition in the event that Ms. Dunn was to refuse consent to the SMC.  That advice 
also confirmed the absence of policy development respecting the process for renewal of 
FGLs. Ms. Newsham wrote: 

“If we cannot get participation from the Dunns we should be prepared to make a 
decision on approval of the SMC. I realize there is precedent set here but offer 
the following rationale for approving this overlapping use without consent, which 
limits the precedent set here: 
 

-this is a grazing license not a lease, and the legislation makes quite a 
distinction between the two including a provision for withdrawal without 
compensation that only applies to licenses; -conditions of the FGL indicate 
that we were contemplating future use for gravel extraction; -the land is 
not being withdrawn from the grazing license, but the two uses will exist 
together on the same land base as per Section 25 (b) of the Act. 
Withdrawal is a greater imposition on the rights granted by disposition 
than an overlapping use. 
 
-our expectation with a grazing licence holder is that other dispositions 
and approvals on the license area will be accommodated, but that the 
new users must discuss and accommodate, as far as possible, the needs 
of the first disposition holders. For FGLS this could be e.g. fencing, timing 

35 Record, Tab 25, Email from Dave Hugelschaffer, September 3, 2013, at 2:27 pm. 
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of activities, access routes. That is the rationale for asking for consent --
we would much prefer everyone to "play nice" as they must co-exist on 
the land base. 

 
For this purpose (as we discussed) I am disregarding the overholding tenancy 
Issue. Vanee has pointed out that we have not communicated with or warned 
disposition holders about the consequences of overholding tenancy, and our past 
approach has always been to treat expired dispositions (as long as they have not 
been canceled) as still active. To change this needs policy in place.” 
 

Efforts to Communicate with Ms. Dunn As Regards Her Consent to the 
SME 
 
[51] Mr. Hugelschaffer contacted Ms. Dunn on September 6, 2013, to request a 
meeting.  In that email Mr. Hugelschaffer provided, as an attachment to the email, a 
letter previously sent to Ms. Dunn on July 25, 2013, by registered mail, but returned as 
undelivered.36  The letter to Ms. Dunn of July 25, 2013, responded to a letter she had 
sent on July 4, 2013,37 disputing the alleged contraventions of the terms and conditions 
of her FGL.  The letter of July 25, 2013, also made the following statement about the 
renewal of the FGL: 
 

 “Your grazing licence (FGL 970007) expired August 31, 2012.  A decision on the 
issuance of a new licence should be made shortly.  In the interim, you may 
continue to utilize the licence area according to the terms and conditions of the 
expired licence and the Public Lands Act and regulations.” 38 
 

[52] Mr. Hugelschaffer subsequently documented in an email a telephone call he had 
with Ms. Dunn, and his description included the following points: 
 

“-She expressed a concern that her FGL was to be taken from her (cancelled) 
and I assured her that such a decision had not been made, and that the 
Department’s approach is to first work with disposition holders on compliance 
issues (of which over-utilization had been noted), and that cancellation was 
always a last resort. 
 

36 Record, Tab 24. 
37 Record, Tab 19, Letter to Tennille Kupsch from Bill & Penny Dunn, July 4, 20123. 
38 Record, Tab 24. 
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Advised her that the application of SMC 130035 would be requesting consent and 
that I would facilitate a meeting between herself and the application if issues 
arose regarding consent.”39 
 

[53] During September and October of 2013, Ms. Dunn and Mr. Hugelschaffer 
exchanged email communications.  Mr. Hugelschaffer encouraged Ms. Dunn to pick up 
a registered letter from Minich.40  Ms. Dunn claimed not to have received “anything 
from anybody”41 and asked that nothing be sent her by registered mail.42  She also 
stated: “If you wish to take my FGL away from me (to give to someone else) please 
(I’ve asked for this information before) direct me how I go about the appeal process.”43     
 
[54] Mr. Hugelschaffer wrote to Ms. Dunn on September 27, 2013, with a map.  That 
map showed the boundaries of FGL 970007 and the area covered by the SMC which 
Minich had applied for.  An additional area of sand and gravel resources was also 
identified:  the area of a Protective Notation [PN] showing lands within the FGL which 
had gravel but for which all sand and gravel had been reserved (by reason of the PN) 
for future potential use by Alberta Transportation.  Mr. Hugelschaffer went on to state: 

“As per our previous discussions, the SME was originally approved with a 
requirement for FGL consent, however the FGL expressly does not support this 
(as per the FGL970007 Letter of Authority). This conflict was brought to our legal 
team who determined that consent is not applicable in ANY situations involving 
surface material exploration on an FGL, and the provincial requirement for FGL 
consent for SME activity was discontinued. 
 
The SMC130035, for which Terry Dodge [on behalf of Minich] has requested 
consent is shown in red. Given the previous conflict regarding consent for the 
SME within an FGL, we thought it best to check in advance with our legal team, 
who have confirmed that consent is required for an overlapping disposition such 
as the SMC overlapping the FGL To be clear, the SMC is not being removed from 
the FGL, but is issued as an overlapping disposition. Should the SMC be 
converted to an SML, it will be removed from the FGL. 
 
As previously noted, consent is a mechanism to facilitate discussion between 
overlapping disposition holders and is intended to address matters of an 
operational manner (such as, for example, timing of operations between both 

39 Record, Tab 29, Email from Dave Hugelschaffer, September 06, 2013, at 2:21 pm. 
40 Record, Tab 31, Email from Dave Hugelschaffer, September 20, 2013, at 9:26 am.  
41 Record, Tab 31, Email from Penny Dunn, September 24, 2013, at 9:07 am.  
42 Record, Tab 31, Email from Penny Dunn to Dave Hugelschaffer, September 24, 2013, at 9:07 pm.  See also Tab 
36, email from Penny Dunn to Dave Hugelschaffer, October 8, 2013.   
43 Record, Tab 32, Email from Penny Dunn to Dave Hugelschaffer, September 25, 2013, at 9:35 am.  

19 | P a g e  
 

                                                           



dispositions to minimize conflicts, access, fencing, etc). Consent does not involve 
matters of compensation. Consent cannot be unreasonably withheld. If consent 
is unreasonably withheld the Crown has the option to remove from your FGL any 
lands required for the development of other resources.” (underlining added) 
 

[55] Written Submissions filed by Counsel for the Director do not explain the 
discrepancy between the fact that (i) Minich had sought consent from Ms. Dunn by use 
of a consent form which sought withdrawal of the 4 acre parcel comprising the SMC 
from the 154 acre parcel comprising the FGL, and (ii) the Director was now proposing 
to proceed on the basis that the SMC would not be withdrawn from the FGL, and that 
consent sought from Ms. Dunn would be in relation to operation of sand and gravel 
activities rather than withdrawal of the SMC from the FGL.  

 
[56] The Board finds that Mr. Hugelschaffer was proceeding on the basis that the 
consent associated with the issuance of an SMC was in relation to the operation of the 
extraction activity governed by the SMC.  In his letter of September 27, 2013, Mr. 
Hugelschaffer clearly conveyed to Ms. Dunn that, if she would not consent to the 
extraction activities authorized under the overlapping SMC, that the Director could then 
withdraw from the overholding tenancy flowing from FGL #2 those lands which were 
included within the SMCs so as to eliminate conflict between overlapping dispositions 
involving grazing use and gravel extraction.  

 
[57] On October 3, 2013, Ms. Dunn requested a meeting with Mr. Hugelschaffer -- on 
condition that information be provided to her about the alleged contraventions and 
“what happened at our meeting at SRD in Sept 2012.”44  Mr. Hugelschaffer responded 
on the same day,45 indicating that he had sent a letter to Ms. Dunn (by registered mail, 
regular mail and email) which addressed the issues which she raised about the alleged 
contraventions.  Mr. Hugelschaffer assured Ms. Dunn that “your FGL is not currently 
being considered for cancellation” as a consequence of the alleged contraventions, and 
that “[a]ny views you have received to the contrary are mistaken.”  He then, again, 
asked her to discuss the consent request from Minich: 

“I urge you to discuss the consent request for Mr. Minich.  Consent is intended to 
be an agreement reached between overlapping disposition holders.  Involvement 
by ESRD in the consent process would be to mediate a discussion between both 
parties, after previous attempts by both parties to reach an agreement has not 
produced results.  At this point my understanding is that you have not responded 

44 Record, Tab 34, Email from Penny Dunn, October 03, 2013, at 10:46. 
45 Record, Tab 34, Email from Dave Hugelschaffer, October 3, 2013, at 12:02 pm. 
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to Mr. Minich’s request (through Terry Dodge) for consent.  A response to Mr. 
Minich (Terry Dodge) is required to start the consent mediation process.” 

[58] On October 8, 2013, Ms. Dunn wrote to Mr. Hugelschaffer denying that Minich 
had attempted to contact her.46  On October 11, 2013, Mr. Hugelschaffer asked Minich 
to “please make all reasonable efforts to reach a consent agreement by November 12, 
2013.”47  In this email Mr. Hugelschaffer stated: 

“Concerns typically discussed between the holder of grazing dispositions and an 
overlapping gravel pit include extent of disturbance, timing and phasing of 
operations, access arrangements, fencing and animal control, refuse 
management, and reclamation.” 

[59] On October 16, 2013, Minich had a process server effect service of the request 
for land withdrawal consent on her.48  On October 31, 2013, Ms. Dunn wrote to Minich 
asserting a willingness to meet with Minich – but only if certain conditions were met. 
Ms. Dunn stated: 
 

“You wish to develop my FGL.  We would like to have some questions answered 
before this happens. We have been asking for information since the beginning of 
this process.  … If you are willing to meet we will send you a list of the questions 
we have been asking, which we would like to have answered at this meeting. 

 
Ms. Dunn also stated in this letter that “[i]f you are unwilling to provide answers to the 
questions, then we will take this to the next step which is the Surface Rights Board.”49   
 
[60] Minich responded by letter on November 5, 2013, agreeing to meet and to 
answer questions respecting the SMC application.50  Minich suggested that a meeting 
with the Director would be “the most effective way to answer your questions” and 
asked the Director to arrange a meeting.  There is nothing in the Record to indicate 
that the Director attempted to itself arrange a meeting between Minich and Ms. Dunn 
before 2014.   
 

46 Record, Tab 36, Email from P. Dunn, October 8, 2013, at 8:41 am. 
47 Record, Tab 38, Email from Dave Hugelschaffer, October 11, 2013, 2:34 pm.  
48 Record, Tab 39, Affidavit of William Kohut. 
49 Record, Tab 40, Letter from Penny Dunn, October 31, 2013. 
50 Record, Tab 41, Letter from Terry Dodge, November 5, 2013. 
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[61] Minich did, however, offer to meet with Ms. Dunn on a weekend.51  On 
November 20, 2013, Ms. Dunn wrote to Minich stating she was not available on the 
weekend offered by Minich.  Ms. Dunn offered two times in December when she and 
her husband would be able to meet -- including December 20 and 21, 2013.52  On 
November 22, 2013, Minich wrote to Ms. Dunn stating that its agent, Mr. Dodge, was 
not available on one of the two dates provided, and stating “[i]t seems like it might be 
a lot simpler to email me your questions on the SMC application.” 53  At this time Minich 
provided Ms. Dunn with a copy of the Application for the SMC and also a Surface 
Materials Licence (SMC) Aggregate Operations and Field Report.  Ms. Dunn did not 
respond to this.  
 
[62] In January 2014, when Mr. Hugelschaffer inquired of Ms. Dunn about “progress 
regarding Mr. Minich’s request for consent for his SMC”, Ms. Dunn told Mr. 
Hugelschaffer that “it got too close to Xmas for us to meet.  I’m waiting to hear from 
him as when they are available.”54  Mr. Hugelschaffer provided this information to 
Minich, stating “Penny is claims [sic] to be awaiting your call.  Keep me updated on 
progress.”55  Minich responded by denying that Ms. Dunn’s version of events was 
correct, stating “She has been asked many times to forward me her questions.  They 
are going to stall for as long as they possibly can.”56 
 
[63] In December of 2013, Ms. Dunn wrote to the Minister of Environment and 
Sustainable Resource Development.57  The Minister responded on January 15, 2014, 
stating the following in relation to her consent to the SMC application: 

 
“Applications for surface material leases for extraction require permission from 
the forest grazing licence holder. 
 
To date, Environment and Sustainable Resource Development have not approved 
any applications for a surface materials lease for the extraction of sand or gravel 
because this requires consent from you.  I understand that the company has 
been attempting to arrange a meeting to discuss this consent.  Mr. Dave 
Hugelschaffer is available to assist in facilitating this arrangement. …”58 

51 Record, Tab 43, Email from Penny Dunn, November 20, 2013:  “This weekend doesn’t work for us.” 
52 Record, Tab 42, Email from Penny Dunn, November 20, 2013 at 8:36 am. 
53 Record, Tab 43, Email from Terry Dodge to Dave Hugelschaffer, November 22, 2013 at 9:07 am.  
54 Record, Tab 42, Email from Penny Dunn, January 13, 2014 at 11:56 am. 
55 Record, Tab 42, Email from Dave Hugelschaffer, January 13, 2014, at 12:06 pm. 
56 Record, Tab 42, Email from Terry Dodge, January 13, 2014, at 12:55 pm. 
57 Record, Tab 46, Letter from Robin Campbell, Minister, January 15, 2014. 
58 Record, Tab 46, Letter from Robin Campbell, Minister, January 15, 2014. 
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[64] On January 14, 2014, the day before this letter was sent from the Minister, Mr. 
Hugelschaffer sent an email to Ms. Dunn and to Minich, stating the following: 

“The issue of consent has dragged on for many months now and I have been 
receiving conflicting responses regarding attempts to resolve this between both 
parties.   

I am setting a deadline of Jan 31, 2014, for resolution of the consent issue, 
failing which the Crown will move forward with a decision.”59 

Ms. Dunn responded to Mr. Hugelschaffer on January 14, via email stating “Now, I’m 
really confused.  What’s an SMC …”.60  Mr. Hugelschaffer replied to Ms. Dunn on 
January 14, stating: 
 

“The SMC is the gravel pit that Minich has applied for within your FGL (you often 
refer to it incorrectly as a lease, which would be an SML).  An SMC is short term, 
usually a year; if operations are to go longer conversion is required to an SML).  
You should have all the info on the SMC from the material that Terry Dodge sent 
you. 
 
I should be free right after lunch if you’d like to call with any more questions.”61 
 

Ms. Dunn did not call Mr. Hugelschaffer. 
 
[65] On January 15, 2014, Ms. Penny Dunn wrote to Mr. Hugelschaffer, and sent a 
copy to Gail Dunn of the West Yellowhead constituency.62  Gail Dunn is described in the 
Record as “Constituency Manager, West Yellowhead Constituency Office” (of the 
Minister of Environment and Sustainable Resource Development).63  In this Decision of 
the Board, the phrase ‘Ms. Dunn’ refers to the Appellant Ms. Penny Dunn.  Where Gail 
Dunn is referred to, the phrase ‘Gail Dunn’ is used.  In this letter Ms. Dunn asked for a 
copy of a map associated with the SME.  In this email Ms. Dunn stated:  “Obviously, 
your people are not doing their jobs and should be looking for employment elsewhere.”  
Upon receipt of this email, Mr. Hugelschaffer asked Minich if there was more 
information which could be provided to Ms. Dunn.64  Minich responded that the survey 

59 Record, Tab 44, Email from Dave Hugelschaffer, January 14, 2014, at 8:29 am. 
60 Record, Tab 45, Email from Penny Dunn, January 14, 2014, at 10:00 am.  
61 Record, Tab 45, Email from Dave Hugelschaffer, January 14, 2014, at 10:30 am. 
62 Record, Tab 47, Email from Penny Dunn to Dave Hugelschaffer, copy to Gail Dunn, January 15, 2014, at 9:08 am. 
63 Record, Tab 59, Email from West Yellowhead, February 26, 2014, at 9:53 a.m. 
64 Record, Tab 47, Email from Dave Hugelschaffer, January 15, 2014, at 12:27 pm.   
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plan was sent to Ms. Penny Dunn with the request for consent via registered mail on 
September 4, 2013, was personally delivered to Ms. Penny Dunn by a process server on 
October 16, 2013, and was also sent by email to Ms. Dunn on November 22, 2013, with 
the Aggregate Operations and Field Report.65 
 
[66] On January 16, 2014, Ms. Dunn wrote to Mr. Hugelschaffer, asking for a copy of 
the “SME” application and maps showing where Minich was allowed to test.66  Mr. 
Hugelschaffer answered Ms. Dunn on January 16, 2014, within one hour of her email, 
explaining that the SME was concluded and asking her to address the consent for the 
SMC: 

“Please focus on the consent request for the SMC 130035 submitted to you by 
Mr. Dodge.  As I noted in previous email the consent issue for SMC 130035 must 
be resolved by January 31, 2014, failing which the Department will make a 
decision on how to proceed.” 

[67] Ms. Dunn responded to this by email on January 16, 2014, at 12:38 pm, stating: 

“Who do we appeal your decision to?  As far as we are concerned, Minich’s SME 
was illegal because SRD/Minich refused to give us the information requested and 
you are still refusing, we fully intend to appeal because of these concerns.” 

 
[68] On January 24, 2014, Mr. Hugelschaffer wrote to Minich and Ms. Dunn offering 
to facilitate a meeting at the ESRD office in Hinton on January 28, 2014.67  Minich 
accepted this offer.68  Ms. Dunn responded on January 24, stating “[w]e are not 
available to meet Jan 28 as we both have prior commitments” and asking for 
“information that we need to appeal your decision and we will go that route.”  Ms. Dunn 
also alleged:  “You do not wish to resolve the issues, and you/Minich will/have not 
provided the information that we need to make an informed decision.”69  Mr. 
Hugelschaffer responded to this by email on January 24, stating: 

“What information are you seeking that has not been provided, in regards to the 
SMC application?  It is unfortunate you are not available as a discussion with 
both parties present may be beneficial.  No decision has yet been made; this will 

65 Record, Tab 47, Email from Terry Didge, January 15, 2014, at 1:18 pm. 
66 Record, Tab 50, Email from Penny Dunn, January 16, 2014, at 8:53 am. 
67 Record, Tab 51, Email from Dave Hugelschaffer, January 24, 2014, at 11:16 am. 
68 Record, Tab 62, Summary of Request for Consent Efforts towards Withdrawal of SMC 130035 from FGL 970007. 
69 Record, Tab 53, Email from Penny Dunn, January 24, 2014, at 11:49 am. 
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occur after Jan 31, 2014.  You will be advised of what appeal options are 
available after a decision has been made.”70 

[69] Within minutes of sending an email to Mr. Hugelschaffer on January 24, 2014, as 
described above, Ms. Dunn sent an email to the West Yellowhead Constituency Office, 
asking the following about the Minister: 

“Does Robyn agree with assigning deadlines before all of the pertinent 
information is available?  How can I make a decision if I don’t know what I’m 
dealing with.”71 

The Constituency Manager, Gail Dunn, responded on January 28, 2014, stating that 
“the January 31, 2014, deadline remains in effect” and also stating: 
 

“ESRD will be examining the land uses in your area and making a determination 
regarding the possible renewal of the expired Forest Grazing Licence held by you.   
 
They are expecting a response to you within the next month.”72 
 

Ms. Dunn replied to the Constituency Manager, Gail Dunn, on January 28, 2014, 
stating: 
 

“They will do as they please, whenever and however they please, and I will be 
left to suffer the consequences of their decisions.  I am always pleased to be 
treated with respect and care that an Alberta taxpayer deserves.  Not sure what 
my tax dollars go for, but I am confident that government agencies will ensure 
that I do not receive anything that they can keep or take away from me (rights 
and privileges included.”73 

 
Gail Dunn sent this to Mr. Hugelschaffer with the comment that “Penny seems to think 
she has been accommodating with dates.”74 
 
[70] Also on January 24, 2014, a few minutes after writing to the constituency office, 
Ms. Dunn sent an email to Mr. Hugelschaffer, with a copy to the Minister’s constituency 
office, stating: 

70 Record, Tab 53, Email from Dave Hugelschaffer, January 24, 2014, at 12:01 pm. 
71 Record, Tab 54, Email from Penny Dunn, January 24, 2014, at 11:54 am. 
72 Record, Tab 64, Email from Gail Dunn, Constituency Manager, West Yellowhead Constituency Office, to Penny 
Dunn, January 28, 2014, at 11:12 am. 
73 Record, Tab 64, Record, Tab 64, Email from Gail Dunn, Constituency Manager, West Yellowhead Constituency 
Office, to Penny Dunn, January 28, 2014, at 11:26 am. 
74 Record, Tab 64, Email from West Yellowhead to Dave Hugelschaffer, January 28, 2014, at 11:33 am. 
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“I’ve received the map from Terry and he says they will fence the pit.  What kind 
of fence, adequate for livestock?  Is the fence going to be maintained?  And, 
again, if they take that land out of the FGL and Border Paving takes some out 
more, how much is left for me? How many horses will I be able to graze? I need 
to know what I’m dealing with.”75 

 
[71] Mr. Hugelschaffer responded to this by email on January 24, 2014, with a copy 
to the Minister’s constituency office, answering each point raised by Ms. Dunn and 
offering to facilitate a meeting on January 28, 2014 or to be available by phone or email 
to answer other concerns.76   
 
[72] The Record contains no response from Ms. Dunn to this offer.  January 2014 
ended without any resolution of the outstanding consent issues associated with the 
application for the SMC. 
 

The Decision to Alter the Boundaries of the FGL 
 
[73] Mr. Hugelschaffer wrote to Ms. Dunn on February 24, 2014, requesting a 
meeting “to discuss the management of aggregates within your FGL 970007 (including 
how this may affect grazing capacity), the status and renewal options for your FGL 
970007, and the outstanding consent issues for SMC 130035.”77  He provided a range 
of available dates in February and March, 2014.  Ms. Dunn responded with a further 
question,78 which was answered,79 but it appears from the Record that Ms. Dunn did 
not respond to the request for a meeting. 
 
[74] Ms. Dunn did write to the constituency office for the Minister of Environment and 
Sustainable Resource Development on February 26, 2014, complaining about the events 
surrounding the issuance of the SME.80  The constituency office asked Mr. 
Hugelschaffer if he could provide any information to Ms. Dunn.81  Mr. Hugelschaffer 
advised the constituency office that Ms. Dunn did not have the legal right under the 

75 Record, Tab 55, Email from Penny Dunn, January 24, 2014, at 12:02 pm.   
76 Record, Tab 55, Email from Dave Hugelschaffer, January 24, 2014, at 2:14 pm. 
77 Record, Tab 56, Email from Dave Hugelschaffer, February 24, 2014, at 2:43 pm. 
78 Record, Tab 57, Email from Penny Dunn, February 24, 2014, at 3:16 pm. 
79 Record, Tab 57, Email from Dave Hugelschaffer, February 24, 2014, at 3:37 pm. 
80 Record, Tab 59, Email from Penny Dunn, February 26, 2014, at 9:45 am. 
81 Record, Tab 59, Email from West Yellowhead, February 26, 2014, at 9:53 am. 
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FGL to block access under an SME.82  Soon thereafter he later provided to Ms. Dunn a 
map showing the drill locations for the SME,83 and a map showing the test hold locations 
for the SME.84 
 
[75] On February 26, 2014, Mr. Hugelschaffer sent an email internal to the 
Department.  This email documents a decision by the Director that Ms. Dunn was “still 
balking” on the question of consent of the SMC, and that the Director had received 
advice that it could issue the SMC without consent.  Citing a concern that Minich would 
lose its contract if it could not get its SMC approved, Mr. Hugelschaffer identified a 
“long-term solution” which would “reduce Dunn’s FGL to the 200m m buffer (map 
attached) which reduced their range capacity from 4 horses/month to 3 horses/month, 
and removes any future conflict between gravel extraction and their FGL.  Seems like a 
good compromise.”85  The map showing the 200 meter boundary is attached as 
Appendix E to this Decision of the Board.  The 200 metre line shown on this map 
ultimately did become a boundary of the replacement disposition signed by the Director 
on June 18 2014 but not formally issued in accordance with s. 39 of the Public Lands Act.  

 
[76] On February 28, 2014, Mr. Hugelschaffer wrote to Ms. Dunn to check that he 
understood all issues “[p]rior to moving ahead with approval of SMC 130035.”86  Mr. 
Hugelschaffer’s letter then provided information on the following questions: 

 
• Will the SMC be fenced adequate to keep livestock out of the gravel operation? 
• How will SMC affect the grazing capacity? 
• What is the timeframe for the gravel operation? 
• What will be the access for the gravel pit? 

 
He asked Ms. Dunn to review this information and confirm that there were not other 
issues relative to SMC 130035. 87   
 
[77] A meeting was then arranged for March 10, 2014, in Hinton, to involve 
Department officials, Ms. Dunn and Gail Dunn.88  Ms. Dunn was asked to confirm that 

82 Record, Tab 59, Email from Dave Hugelschaffer, February 26, 2014, at 10:14 am. 
83 Record, Tab 60, Email from Dave Hugelschaffer, February 27, 2014, at 9:19 am. 
84 Record, Tab 61, Email from Dave Hugelschaffer, February 27, 2014, at 11:12 am. 
85 Record, Tab 58, Email from Dave Hugelschaffer, February 26, 2014, at 10:09 am. 
86 Record, Tab 63, Email from Dave Hugelschaffer, February 28, 2014, at 1:09 pm. 
87 Record, Tab 63, Email from Dave Hugelschaffer, February 28, 2014, at 1:09 pm. 
88 Record, Tab 64, Email from Dave Hugelschaffer. 
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the time of the meeting was acceptable.89  A proposed agenda of the meeting was 
presented to Gail Dunn, as follows: 
 

• Review concerns expressed by Penny Dunn, and responses; 
• Determine if there are additional concerns and how these concerns might best 

be addressed; 
• Determine if consent can proceed; 
• Review future land management of the FGL area related to a pending gravel tender; 
• Determine next steps.90 

 
[78] On March 5, 2014 Ms. Dunn sent email to Gail Dunn of the West Yellowhead 
Constituency Office, stating: 

“I spoke with Bill this morning and we've decided to wait for a decision from the 
Ombudsman. We will await that decision before any more meetings with SRO. 
There are issues which need to be addressed before anyone (including Minich) is 
allowed on this piece of property. The people of Alberta deserve to be treated  
with fairness and respect by any government agency. The people of Alberta 
deserve to see the best benefit possible from this property. Preferential 
treatment allocated to Minich and the exclusion of others is not my idea of fair 
and respectful behavior by SRD.” 91 

 
Later on March 5, 2014, Gail Dunn wrote to Mr. Hugelschaffer indicating “Meeting is 
cancelled.”92   
 
[79] On March 31, 2014, Mr. Hugelschaffer wrote to Ms. Dunn to advise her of a 
decision about the use of the area contained in the expired FGL#2.93  Mr. Hugelschaffer 
stated that “all reasonable efforts to resolve your concerns have been made by the 
Department and the SMC applicant.”  Mr. Hugelschaffer went on to state: 

“It is unfortunate you cancelled our planned meeting of March 10 to discuss 
consent issues related to SMC130035 as well as the management of gravel 
resources in the vicinity and renewal options for expired FGL970007. I am writing 
to you to advise you of the Department's decision about the use of the area 
contained in the expired FGL970007. 
 

89 Record, Tab 64, Email from Dave Hugelschaffer to Gail Dunn/West Yellowhead, March 5, 2014, at 9:06 am. 
90 Record, Tab 64, Email from Dave Hugelschaffer to Gail Dunn/West Yellowhead, March 5, 2014, at 9:06 am. 
91 Record, Tab 65, Email from Penny Dunn to West Yellowhead, March 5, 2014, at 12:10 pm. 
92 Record, Tab 65, Email from West Yellowhead to Dave Hugelschaffer, March 5, 2013, at 12:41 pm. 
93 Record, Tab 66, Email from Dave Hugelschaffer, March 31, 2013, at 9:57 am. 
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In regards to your refusal to provide consent for SMC130035, the Department 
feels that all of your concerns have been recorded (attached) and that all 
reasonable efforts to resolve your concerns have been made by the Department 
and the SMC applicant. The Department has determined a course of action that 
will address both access to the gravel resource and your desire for access to the 
range resource. The Department intends to amend the boundary of expired 
FGL970007 to remove areas of conflict between gravel exploration and extraction 
and utilization of the range resource. This will entail deletion from expired 
FGL.970007 of lands beyond 200m or the bank of the Athabasca River (map 
attached). The lands remaining for grazing within this buffer represent, at 
current calculated stocking rates, a reduction from 4 horses/ 4months to 3 
horses/4 months. If you wish to acquire additional range capacity in another 
location the Department will work with you in securing an additional grazing 
location. 
 
It would be beneficial if we could meet with you to discuss implementation of 
this option relative to renewal of expired FGL970007, to discuss items such as 
fencing adjustments and timelines, and length of term for a renewal period.  
Please indicate if you are agreeable to meet with the Department (and what 
days/times work best for you) to discuss this adjustment in the next two weeks 
as the Department plans to move forward with this adjustment on April 15, 
2014. I look forward to your response.”94 
 

[80] The letter of March 31, 2014, from Mr. Hugelschaffer asserted an intent “to 
move forward with this adjustment on April 15, 2014.”  Counsel for the Director submits 
that a decision to adjust the boundaries was actually made on April 15, 2014. The 
Board finds that there is an assertion to make a decision, but there is no document in 
the Record which confirms that a decision was actually reached on April 15, 2014.   

 
[81] Instead, on April 16, 2014, the Director’s officials communicated via email with 
one another about future “options”.95  One of the options discussed in these 
communications was to prepare renewal documents and submit them to Ms. Dunn for 
signature.  Under this option: 
 

• the disposition issued to Ms. Dunn would be cancelled if she did not sign the 
renewal documents within 90 days [consisting of 60 days followed by a 
further 30 days]; and 
 

• Ms. Dunn would then have “grounds for appeal PLAR Section 21(1)” [SIC]. 96 

94 Record, Tab 66, Email from Dave Hugelschaffer, March 31, 2013, at 9:57 am. 
95 Record, Tab 68, Email from Teresa Stokes to Dave Hugelschaffer, April 16, 2014, at 1:24 pm. 
96 Record, Tab 68, Email from Teresa Stokes to Dave Hugelschaffer, April 16, 2014, at 1:24 pm. 
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Later, on May 7, 2014, Department officials correspond stating that the boundaries of 
the overholding disposition “be amended to decrease the size of the licenced area 
pursuant to s. 64(1)(a) of PLAR with a new term of 10 years.97  A replacement 
disposition was prepared and signed by the Director on June 18, 2014.98   
 
[82] The Board finds that June 18, 2014 was the date when the replacement 
disposition was signed.  The Board also finds that there is insufficient evidence that this 
was communicated to Ms. Dunn. 
 
[83] On April 8, 2014, Mr. Hugelschaffer sent email to Ms. Dunn, with a copy to Gail 
Dunn, stating that he had not heard from her in relation to his email of March 31, 2014, 
that the Department remained willing to meet with her, providing map showing “the 
new proposed boundary” of the FGL, and stating that “the Department may move 
forward” after April 15, 2014.99  The future indefinite tense of the verb used by Mr. 
Hugelschaffer further confirms that no decision was actually taken on April 15, 2014, as 
suggested by Counsel for the Director.  Ms. Dunn replied on April 10, 2014, stating that 
she was “still waiting for a response from the Ombudsman’s office.”100  Mr. 
Hugelschaffer replied to her that Ms. Dunn’s submission to the Ombudsman would not 
stop the Department’s process, that the April 15, 2014, deadline for “input into the 
changes to expired FGL 970007” remains, and that he was available on April 14, 2014, 
to meet with her.101 

 
[84] A meeting with Ms. Dunn was eventually held on April 24, 2014.  The 
participants were Mr. and Ms. Dunn, and Department officials Helen Newsham and 
Brent Schleppe.  Prior to that meeting, Mr. Hugelschaffer provided the Government 
participants with “FGL options.”102  
 
[85] Ms. Newsham documented the outcome of the April 24, 2014 meeting with Ms. 
Dunn on April 25, 2014. Her email states in part: 

“Concerning the FGL, Mrs. Dunn indicated she would be prepared to accept a 
new FGL with a smaller size as indicated in the attached imagery. …  

97 Record, Tab 72, Email from Tenille Kupsch to Connie Gagne, Dispositions and Approvals Section, May 7, 2014. 
98 Record, Tab 81. 
99 Record, Tab 67, Email from Dave Hugelschaffer, April 8, 2014, at 2:03 pm. 
100 Record, Tab 67, Email from Penny Dunn, April 10, 2014, at 1:51 pm. 
101 Record, Tab 67, Email from Dave Hugelschaffer, April 10, 2014, at 2:12 pm. 
102 Record, Tab 69, Email from Dave Hugelschaffer, April 22, 2014, at 11:46 am. 
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I believe the next step would be for dispositions to make the offer to Mrs. Dunn, 
including a reference to the PLAB appeal.”103 

Brent Schleppe contends in his email dated April 30, 2014 that Ms. Dunn had agreed to 
accept a new FGL with a smaller size104. Ms. Dunn’s record of the meeting does not 
reflect this agreement.105   

Approval of the SMC 
 
[86] On May 2, 2014, SMC 130035 was formally issued, with an expiry date of May 1, 
2015.106  This disposition erroneously identified “non-manufacturing clay” as the 
substance which was the subject of the licence, and it was later amended to reflect 
“sand and gravel” rather than “non-manufacturing clay.”107  The SMC which was issued 
is attached as Appendix F to this Decision of the Board. 
 

Ms. Dunn Asserts an Intent to Appeal the Issuance of SMC 130005 
 
[87] On May 26, 2014, at 10:43 am, Penny Dunn advised Brent Schleppe (Regional 
Approvals Manager, Environment and Sustainable Resource Development) and Gail 
Dunn (Constituency Manager, West Yellowhead Constituency) that “we have decided to 
appeal the ‘gravel pit’ being proposed for my FGL.”108   

 

Signature of the Replacement Grazing Licence Disposition by the 
Director & Uncertainty over the Date when the Boundaries were 
Amended 
 
[88] On June 18, 2014, the Director signed a replacement grazing licence disposition 
[FGL #3].109  FGL #3 was backdated so as to purport to be effective from September 1, 
2012.  Its 10 year term expired on August 31, 2022.  The replacement disposition 
referred to here as FGL #3 is attached as Appendix G to this Decision of the Board.   
 

103 Record, Tab 69, Email from Helen Newsham, April 25, 2014, at 10:56 am. 
104 Record, Tab 70, Email from Brent Schleppe to Penny Dunn, April 30, 2014, at 9:01 am. 
105 Record, Tab 102, Email from Penny Dunn to Brent Schleppe, April 28, 2014, at 9:16 pm. 
106 Record, Tab 71, Non-Public Pit Surface Materials Licence. 
107 Record, Tab 71, Letter from Hawantee Beejmohun, May 6, 2014. 
108 Record, Tab 73, Email from Penny Dunn, May 26, 2014, at 10:43 am. 
109 Record, Tab 81, Grazing Licence FGL 970007, effective date September 1, 2012, expiry date August 31, 2022. 

31 | P a g e  
 

                                                           



[89] The Record before the Board does not establish, on a balance of probabilities, 
how or when this replacement disposition was transmitted to Ms. Dunn.  No covering 
letter documentation is provided in the Record.  If such documents exist, they should 
have been included with the Director’s Record in this case, particularly since the 
Director provided assurances that this would be accompanied by advice to Ms. Dunn 
about her right to appeal to the Board.   
 
[90] The Record contains an email from Caroline Hiew of the Dispositions and 
Approvals Section which states “the licence package mailed out to Penny Dunn on June 
18, 2014, has not been signed and returned to our office today the DEPT. Copy.”110  
The Board does not accept this statement as sufficient proof on a balance of 
probabilities that the replacement disposition FGL #3 was actually ‘issued’ to Ms. Dunn 
in accordance with s. 36(2) of the Public Lands Act.   If the replacement disposition FGL 
#3 were mailed to Ms. Dunn, there should have been a covering letter advising her of 
her rights to appeal.  The Record contains covering letters for FGL #1 and FGL #2, but 
no covering letter for FGL #3. Further, the Record reveals a great problem in delivery of 
documents to Ms. Dunn.  

 
[91] The email from Caroline Hiew continues:  “The 60 day deadline just expired. … 
Penny … claimed that she has not received the licence package sent to her more than 
two months ago…. I will be calling her sometime next week, to follow up with her on 
when she will be signing and returning the licence document (if she does find it), as I 
have extended the deadline for her to return the document at the end of September.”   

 
[92] This led Ms. Dunn to write to Mr. Schleppe on September 2, 2014 indicating: 

“As the licencing department has extended the deadline till the end of September 
[sic], would we please deal with the addition of the land to my FGL before the 
end of Sept.?  If this is not possible could you please contact the people in 
Edmonton and have the deadline extended till your department is able to deal 
with it?  I am not comfortable renewing the licence with the land exclusion, but 
with no land being added to compensate for my loss.”111 
 

[93] Mr. Schleppe responded to Ms. Dunn on September 2, 2014, with a copy to Gail 
Dunn and others, stating that “the disposition will be renewed once we finalize the 
Forest Grazing Licence (FGL) boundaries” (underlining added).112  The Board finds that 

110 Record, Tab 94, Email from Caroline Hiew, August 29, 2014, 4:31 pm. 
111 Record, Tab 96, Email from Penny Dunn to Brent Schleppe and Gail Dunn, September 2, 2014. 
112 Record, Tab 96, Email from Brent Schleppe to Penny Dunn cc. Gail Dunn. 
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the use of the tense “will be renewed” reflects uncertainty by the Regional Approvals 
Manager as to when the boundaries of Ms. Dunn’s licence were changed, and conveyed 
to Ms. Dunn the representation that the changes were not effective until the question of 
additional lands was settled.   
 

Unsuccessful Efforts to Work with Ms. Dunn to Identify Additional 
Lands including those which May Provide Convenient Access to the FGL   
 
[94] At all material times after the meeting of April 24, 2014, including in the period 
after the Notice of Appeal on October 8, 2014, it is apparent that the Director’s staff 
attempted to work with Ms. Dunn to identify additional lands which she might accept in 
lieu of those lands removed, or proposed for removal, from the FGL in order to avoid 
conflict with sand and gravel extraction and to provide convenient access to the FGL.113  
All reasonable efforts by the Director in this regard failed to achieve any resolution with 
Ms. Dunn. 
 
[95] On May 29, 2014, Ms. Dunn wrote to the Minister of Environment and 
Sustainable Resources, then the Honourable Robin Campbell, “requesting assistance 
from Environment and Sustainable Resource Development staff to locate supplementary 
grazing areas.”114  The Minister encouraged Ms. Dunn “to continue working with staff 
until suitable supplementary areas are found.” 115   

 
[96] The Board finds that all reasonable efforts by the Director’s officials in this 
respect have been unsuccessful.   

 
[97] On August 28, 2014, Ms. Dunn wrote to Gail Dunn stating: 
 

“I’ve had SRD’s assurance that certain conditions would be met before allowing 
development.  Apparently these conditions have been met without my 
consideration. What’s going on?  If Mr. Campbell wants my support, I want his 
support – please act on my behalf and find out what’s going on.  I don’t believe I 
am being treated fairly and I don’t appreciate being dismissed without 
consideration.”116 

113 Record, Tabs 74, 75, 76, 77, 78, 80, 82, 84, 85, 86, 87, 89, 90, 91, 92, 93, 95, 96, 97, 98, 99, 100, 101, 102, 103, 
104, 105, 106, 107, 108, 109, 110.  
114 Record, Tab 80, Letter from the Honourable Robin Campbell, June 17, 2014. 
115 Record, Tab 80, Letter from the Honourable Robin Campbell, June 17, 2014. 
116 Record, Tab 92, Email to Gail Dunn August 28, 2014, at 2:27 p.m. 
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[98] On September 11, 2014, Mr. Hugelschaffer prepared an email stating that “This 
is really high priority, as Dunn keeps calling the Minister.”117  Mr. Schleppe asked Mr. 
Hugelschaffer to set up a meeting.118  The Director did set up a meeting in Hinton, 
Alberta, on September 30, 2014.119  Brent Schleppe wrote to Ms. Dunn on October 1, 
2014, summarizing that meeting and providing Ms. Dunn with two options respecting a 
formal disposition. The material passage of the Director’s Decision of October 1, 2014, 
is as follows: 

 
“A timeline of October 14, 2014 was agreed to in regards to your response to either: 
 

• Accept the additional area to be amended into FGL 970007 [the 
replacement FGL with a term from 2012 to 2022], or  
 

• Accept the renewal area as currently provided [in the replacement FGL 
with the term from 2012 to 2022]. 

If no response is received by October 14, 2014, the renewal provided will be 
cancelled and FGL 9700078 will be removed from the records of the Department, 
and all improvements, including fencing, must be removed.” 

 
Later on October 1, 2014, Mr. Schleppe sent Ms. Dunn “the map of the FGL amendment 
boundary and new additional area being proposed.”120  Appendix H to this Decision of 
the Board is a copy of both of Mr. Schleppe’s emails dated October 1, 2014.121  

 
[99] On October 5, 2014, Mr. Schleppe sent a letter to Ms. Dunn restating the 
Decision reached: 

 
“The boundary of FGL 970007 has been changed at renewal…. The renewal 
documents have been provided for your signature. Prior to your decision on the 
renewal as provided you had expressed an interest in identifying any lands that 
might be added. 
 

117 Record, Tab 98, Email from Dave Hugelschaffer, September 11, 2014, at 3:16 pm.  
118 Record, Tab 99, Email from Brent Schleppe, September 11, 2014, at 8:12 pm. 
119 Record, Tab 103, Email from Brent Schleppe to Penny Dunn, cc Gail Dunn and others, September 17, 2014, at 
2:59 pm. 
120 Record, Tab 111, Email from Brent Schleppe, October 1, 2014, at 8:30 pm. 
121 Record, Tab 107. 
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• A proposed addition to FGL 970007 was presented and discussed. … you 
would like some additional time to review the area before deciding if you 
would like this added to FGL 9700007.  … 

 
• A timeline of October 14, 2014, was agreed to in regard to either:   

o Accept the additional area to be amended, into FGL 970007, or  
o Accept the renewal as currently provided. 

If no response is received by October 14, 2014, the renewal provided will be 
cancelled and FGL970007 will be removed from the records of the 
Department, and all improvements, including fencing, must be removed.”122 

 

An Appeal is Filed with the Board by Ms. Dunn 
 
[100] On October 8, 2014, Ms. Dunn filed a Notice of Appeal with the Board.  The 
Notice of Appeal asserted that Ms. Dunn was directly affected by a decision of Brent 
Schleppe.  The Decision of Mr. Schleppe which was the subject of appeal was attached 
to the Notice of Appeal, and was the email from Mr. Schleppe of October 1, 2014, at 
4:34 pm; and, in addition, the supplementary email from Mr. Schleppe of October 1, 2014, 
at 8:30 pm.  Both of these are attached as Appendix H to this Decision of the Board. 
 
[101] The Notice of Appeal asserted that the appeal was based on s. 64 and s. 67.2 of 
the Public Lands Act.  Part of the hand-written appeal states:  “entitled to compensation 
for improvements made – fencing?  etc?  access is being taken away to give to Gravel 
Pit – will need new access.”   

 
[102] The Board finds that reference to s. 64 and s. 67.2 of the Public Lands Act is a 
clerical error, and that the Notice of Appeal filed by Ms. Dunn properly refers to s. 64 
and s. 67(2) of the Public Lands Administration Regulations.   

 
[103] With respect to the grounds of appeal, Ms. Dunn checked off two boxes on the 
Notice of Appeal, alleging that the Director or officer who made the decision erred in 
law and/or did not comply with a regional plan approved under the Alberta Land 
Stewardship Act.   
 

[104] The following handwriting beside the box for an error of law:  “didn’t renew my 
licence when it expired; don’t take Personal Property laws into consideration.”  Under 
the box for non-compliance with a regional plan, the following handwriting appears:  
“land was originally under disposition to AB Transportation – not advertised … 
interested parties just given opportunity to one user.” 

122 Record, Tab 110, Letter from Brent Schleppe to Penny Dunn, October 5, 2014. 
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[105] In terms of the result sought, the following handwriting appears: 

 
“a)  land of equal value for grazing that I will lose if the gravel pit goes in 
 b)  enough grazing to supplement the “Queen’s Elk” who are eating my 
domestic grass 
 c)  a plan to address the lack of land for the large elk herd do graze and calve in 
the spring. I can’t afford to buy extra feed for all of them & my animals too.” 
 

Events After the Appeal Filed by Ms. Dunn as Revealed in the Record 
 
[106] On October 16, 2014, Mr. Hugelschaffer wrote to others within the Department 
respecting the use of the term ‘renew’.  Mr. Hugelschaffer stated: 

“Another point that has been clarified is that the FGL on offer (reduced in size) is 
NOT a renewal of FGL 970007; it will be a new FGL with a new number.  We 
need to stop referring to the new FGL as a renewal or amendment, or by the 
previous FGL number.” 

 
[107] The Director continued to discuss with Ms. Dunn further revisions to the 
boundary of the FGL.  A meeting was held on October 22, 2014, between the Director 
and Ms. Dunn, to try to define “an area that will allow movement of horses directly from 
your private land into a future Forest Grazing Licence (FGL)” (underlining added).123 
 
[108] On October 31, 2014, Brent Schleppe sent a letter to Ms. Dunn which purported 
to notify her that the “FGL 970007 is expired and that all rights under FGL 970007 have 
terminated.”124   
 
[109] On January 21, 2015, Mr. Schleppe wrote to Ms. Dunn to clarify what this meant.  
Mr. Schleppe’s letter of January 21, 2015, stated: 
 

“The licence has been registered as expired. As the licence is expired, you have 
no further right or interest in these lands and must not make any use of them 
other than for the removal of all structures, buildings, fences, signs and chattels.  
These must be removed by July 1, 2015.  To be clear, as the licence is expired 
and all rights have been terminated, you are not permitted to graze any animals 

123 Record, Tab 117, Letter from Brent Schleppe to Penny Dunn, October 31, 2014. 
124 Record, Tab 117, Letter from Brent Schleppe to Penny Dunn, October 31, 2014. 
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on the area covered by this expired licence.  This also means that any rights that 
you may have as an overholding tenant are also extinguished.”125 

Preliminary Matters 
 
[110] On October 9, 2014, the Appeals Coordinator of the Public Lands Board 
acknowledged receipt of the Notice of Appeal and requested from the Director the 
Record of documents upon which the decision under appeal was based.  Additionally, 
the Appeals Coordinator issued a stay of “the Director’s deadline for response” set out 
in the email of October 1, 2014, “pending consideration of submissions from the parties 
on the stay application”.  The Appeals Coordinator also requested the parties provide 
their available dates for mediation. 
 
[111] After the Notice of Appeal had been filed, the Director’s Counsel disputed that a 
renewal decision had been taken.  By letter dated October 20, 2014, Counsel for the 
Director requested that the Board reconsider its October 9, 2014, decision to accept the 
notice of appeal and initiate the appeal, and that the Board rescind its decision and 
reject the notice of appeal.   

 
[112] On October 24, 2014, the Appeals Coordinator of the Board acknowledged the 
letter of October 20, 2014, from Counsel for the Director, reviewed the Director’s 
submissions contained in the letter, and dismissed the Director’s request to rescind the 
October 9 decision to accept the appeal.  The Appeals Coordinator also stated this with 
respect to the stay of proceedings issued by the Board: 

 
“The Board notes that the Director has stated “If no response is received 
by  October 14, 2014 the renewal provided will be cancelled and FGL 
970007 will be removed from the records of the Department, and all 
improvements, including fencing, must be removed,” indicating that the 
Director has made a decision contingent upon non-response, by the date 
established by the Director.  Section 121(4) of the Public Lands Appeal Act 
states that “submitting a notice of appeal does not operate to stay the 
decision objected to.” However, the Appellant has filed a notice of appeal 
and requested a stay pending resolution of the matter under appeal. A 
stay has been issue by this Board in regard to proceeding to act 
upon the decision, until such time as the appeal may be heard.” 
(bolding in original). 

 

125 Record, Tab 119, Letter from Brent Schleppe to Penny Dunn, January 21, 2015. 
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[113] On June 5, 2015, the Director filed an application to determine jurisdiction and a 
separate application to lift the stay issued by the Board.   
 
[114] The Director’s application to determine jurisdiction raised two questions:  (1) 
Does the Board acquire jurisdiction on the facts of this matter to consider any of the 
issues raised by the Appellants’ notice of appeal and make a recommendation to the 
Minister? (2) If the answer to issue #1 is yes, does the Board have jurisdiction to 
consider the Appellant’s claim for compensation.  In this application the Director 
requested that the Appeals Coordinator “not be appointed to the panel of Board 
members who will consider and determine this application.”   
 
[115] The Board did not appoint the Appeals Coordinator to the panel of Board 
members convened to consider and determine the Director’s application of June 5, 
2015, the Director’s application to lift the stay, or to consider and determine the merits 
of the appeal.   

 
[116]   The parties subsequently exchanged submissions regarding both of the two 
preliminary applications filed by the Director.   

 
[117] On July 31, 2015, the Panel issued decisions on both of the applications of the 
Director.   

 
[118] On July 31, 2015, the Panel fixed a sequence for the filing of submissions in 
advance of the Panel’s consideration of the merits of the Appeal.  Counsel for the 
Appellant tendered an application to vary the schedule of filings, but that application 
was later withdraw; and the parties filed submissions in accordance with the schedule 
of filings fixed by the Panel on July 31, 2015. A hearing by written submission was held 
on August 24, 2015, with the Panel meeting again on September 14, 2015, to consider 
the submissions and Record further.  

  

38 | P a g e  
 



ISSUES 
 
[119] Section 213 of the Public Lands Administration Regulation defines the grounds on 
which a decision may be appealed to the Board.  Only two of these grounds are 
referenced in the Notice of Appeal. 

 
[120] Of the two grounds referenced in the Notice of Appeal, the Appellant and the 
Respondent agree that there is no regional plan approved under the Alberta Land 
Stewardship Act and that this ground is therefore not applicable in this appeal. 

 
[121] The only issue properly before the Board is whether the Director erred in law in 
respect of his decision of October 1, 2014.  

 
[122]  The Board has accepted that Ms. Dunn is a person to whom a decision was 
given, and has standing to bring this appeal on this ground.  Although Counsel for the 
Director has filed Written Submissions which continue to dispute this finding, the 
decision of the Public Land Appeal Board on this point is final by virtue of s. 212(3) of 
the Public Lands Administration Regulations. 

 
[123] The Appellant’s Counsel has filed Written Submission which frames the error of 
law as follows: 

 
Did the Director, in deciding to change the boundaries of the FGL on renewal and 
in deciding to cancel the FGL entirely if the changed boundaries were not 
accepted, err in law? 
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SUBMISSIONS OF THE APPELLANT  
 
[124] The Appellant filed Written Submissions, and Rebuttal Submissions.  The Board 
has read and carefully considered these Submissions. 
 
[125] The Appellant’s Written Submissions on questions of fact are that FGL 970007 
was first issued to Ms. Dunn in 1997, and that there has been no change to the lands 
included in the FGL since that time.  Both the SME and SMC were issued as overlapping 
dispositions.  The Director did not remove the SMC lands from the boundary of the 
overholding tenancy flowing from FGL #2.  A meeting was held between Mr. Schleppe 
and Ms. Dunn on September 30, 2014, “to discuss a formal renewal of the FGL.”  On 
October 1, 2014, Mr. Schleppe communicated to Ms. Dunn the Decision which is the 
subject of the appeal.  
 
[126] In Rebuttal Submissions, the Appellant denies that Director’s submission that the 
boundaries of the FGL were changed effective April 15, 2015.  The Appellant submits:  
“there was not ‘decision’ in March or April 2014 to reduce the boundaries of the FGL.”   

 
[127] The Appellant’s Written Submissions do not specifically refer to the Disposition 
signed by the Director on June 18, 2014.  The decision under appeal (Mr. Schleppe’s 
email of October 1, 2014) does refer to the Disposition signed by the Director on June 
18, 2014.  With respect to that reference, the Appellant’s Submissions state “[h]is email 
included AEP’s decision that ‘the boundary of FGL 970007 has been changed at 
renewal.”  The Appellant characterizes the Notice of Appeal as being in relation to 
“AEP’s October 1, 2014, decision to change the boundaries of the FGL at renewal and to 
cancel the FGL and require the removal of any improvements if the revised FGL was not 
accepted.”  In Rebuttal Submissions, the Appellant states “on or by October 1, 2014 the 
AEP had already renewed the FGL with a changed boundary.”  The Board finds that the 
Appellant’s Rebuttal submission [“AEP had already renewed the FGL”] can only be 
reconciled with the Appellant’s initial Written Submission [“there has been no change to 
the lands included in the FGL”] if the Appellant’s position is that the effective date of 
the change in boundaries had not yet arisen on or before October 1, 2014.  

 
[128] The Appellant’s submissions of law are that the authority to renew the FGL is set 
out in s. 15 of the Public Lands Act, and s. 17 of the Public Lands Administration 
Regulation.  The essence of this is that, when the Director exercises authority to renew 
a disposition, “neither the Act nor the PLAR grant the Director the authority to ‘vary or 
delete’ the legal description or the boundary of the lands subject to the disposition.”   
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[129] The Appellant’s initial Written Submissions concede that other sections of the Act 
and the PLAR authorize the Director to amend the area granted in a disposition; but 
that these are not applicable because “the decision being appealed from is to amend 
the boundaries of the area granted on renewal of the FGL.”  In Rebuttal submissions, 
the Appellant expands upon the legal authority of the Director with respect to s. 64 of 
the Public Lands Administration Regulations: 

“While section 64 does state that the Director ‘may at any time’ change the size 
of a disposition, that section does not include the words ‘including at renewal’.  
Further, section 17 of the PLAR regarding renewal does not include any wording 
to the effect that the Director has any powers on renewal other than those 
specifically set out in that section.” 

[130] With respect to that part of Mr. Schleppe’s October 1, 2014, Decision which 
imposes a consequence of cancellation, the Appellant’s submission is that this is an 
error of law because “neither the Act nor the PLAR provide the authority for such a time 
line for acceptance at renewal.”  The Appellant’s Written Submissions do not specifically 
refer to documents in the Record concerning the 60 day period for Ms. Dunn to sign the 
Disposition signed by the Director on June 18, 2014, to the expiry of the 60 day period 
without signature from Ms. Dunn, or to the extension of that 60 day period to the end 
of September, 2014.   
 
[131] The Appellant submits that the Board’s previous decisions of October 24, 2014, 
and July 31, 2015, confirm that the Director had in fact made a decision regarding 
renewal of the FGL.  In summary, the Appellant argues that the Director was exercising 
a power of renewal. 
 
[132] The Board does not accept this submission.  

 
[133] The Appeal Coordinator’s decision of October 24, 2014, was taken without 
benefit of the review of the Record in this case (which was not then available), and was 
based on the use of the word ‘renew’ on the face of the decision under appeal 
(Appendix H).  The Appeals Coordinator’s finding is stated as follows:  “the Board finds 
that a decision has been made in regards to a matter that is appealable under section 
211 of the Public Lands Administration Regulation.” 

 
[134] The Panel’s Decision of July 31, 2015, which was taken after a review of the 
Record, simply confirms that “the Director’s October 1, 2014, email to the Appellants 
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[sic] constitutes a decision” which is appealable under one of s. 211(a), (c) or (d) of the 
Public Lands Administration Regulation.   
 
[135] Neither the Appeals Coordinator nor the Panel found in its preliminary Decisions 
that the Director was exercising a power of renewal under s. 17 of the Public Lands 
Administration Regulation.   
 
[136] By way of relief, the Appellant asks that the Board recommend that the Director’s 
decision to change the boundaries of the FGL at renewal be reversed, and further 
recommend that the Minister decide to renew the FGL in its entirety. 

SUBMISSIONS OF MINICH 
 
[137] The Board, acting pursuant to s. 123(1) of the Public Lands Administration 
Regulations, allowed Minich to make written submissions in this appeal.  The Board has 
read and carefully considered the Submissions of Minich.  
 
[138] Minich’s Written Submissions introduce a new alleged fact, which is not on the 
Record before the Panel.  The new fact is that on June 15, 2015, the Department 
approved Surface Material Lease [SML] 140063.  Minich also appends to its Written 
Submissions a letter to Minister Diana McQueen dated July 26, 2013.  The letter from 
Minich to Minister McQueen is not itself contained within the documents in the Record 
in this appeal, but is referred to in documents which are in the Record. 
 
[139] Minich’s submissions are that Ms. Dunn had refused to acknowledge or respond 
to attempts by Minich to address concerns and gain consent for SMC 13005 and SML 
140063, and that any cancellation of the disposition would put Minich in the position of 
repeating these exhaustive efforts and incurring these costs and additional time. 

 
[140] Minich provides a timeline of events of its efforts to gain consent to occupy lands 
within the boundaries of the overholding tenancy flowing from FGL#2, extending from 
April 5, 2013, to August 12, 2015.  This timeline of events overlaps with the findings of 
fact made by the Board in this case, but includes some additional facts which are not on 
the Record 

 
[141] Section 120 of the Public Lands Act requires that an appeal under this Act must 
be based on the decision and the record of the decision-maker.  The Board will base its 
decision in this Appeal on the Record in this case, and will not base its decision on new 
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facts alleged in the Submission of Minich or in the letter to Minister McQueen appended 
to the Submission.    

SUBMISSIONS OF THE DIRECTOR 
 
[142] The Director filed Written Submissions, and also Rebuttal Submissions.  These 
are very lengthy.  The Board has read and carefully considered all of the Submissions 
by the Director.  

 
[143] The Board has accepted that Ms. Dunn is a person to whom a decision was 
given, and has standing to bring this appeal.  Although Counsel for the Director 
continues to dispute this finding, the decision of the Public Land Appeal Board on this 
point is final by virtue of s. 212(3) of the Public Lands Administration Regulations. 
 
[144] The Director makes submissions with respect to the alleged non-compliance of 
Ms. Dunn in relation to refusal of access for exploration under the SME, and for certain 
uses of FGL 970007.  As noted above, the Board does not find it necessary to make any 
findings about these alleged contraventions.  The Board accepts the Director’s 
submission that “AEP did not cancel the rights of the Appellants … and advised them 
that AEP preferred to work with them to resolve the issues, if possible.”   

 
[145] The Director also submits, as fact, matters which are not included in the Record 
in this case.  New facts which are not included in the Record include: 

 
• the submission that “[t]here have not been any [extraction] operations on the 

SMC/SML lands to date in 2015”;  
 

• the submission that the Department received an application for an SML on 
September 9, 2014, and that it approved this on June 15, 2014; and 
 

• the submission that the Department “has taken no steps” in regard to the 
letter of January 21, 2015 [in which Mr. Schleppe “advised the Appellants126 
[sic] that they [sic] had no further right or interest in the New Lands and 
were not allowed to make any use of them.  AEP requested that the 

126 The 1997 and 2002 dispositions were issued to Ms. Dunn, not to she and her husband.  Only Ms. Dunn has the 
status of overholding tenant.  Ms. Dunn is the only Appellant. 
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Appellants remove any structures, buildings, fencing, signs and chattels by 
July 1, 2015.”].   

 
These facts are not in the Record provided by the Director.  If the Director’s Counsel is 
of the view that these new facts are material to the Decision of the Director, the Board 
notes that documentation regarding these matters should have been included in the 
Record provided by the Director.  Section 120 of the Public Lands Act requires that an 
appeal under this Act must be based on the decision and the record of the decision-
maker.  The Board will base its decision in this Appeal on the Record in this case, and 
will not base its decision on new facts alleged in the Submissions of the Director.    
 
[146] The Director’s Submissions note that the FGL lands in question are subject to a 
Forest Management Agreement [FMA] held by Hinton Wood Products.  The Board 
agrees that the FGL is located within an FMA, and notes there are references to the 
FMA in the Record.  But the Board considers that the FMA is not material to its decision 
on the merits of the appeal presented to the Board.  For this reason, the Board has not 
found it necessary to make any reference to the FMA. 

 
[147] The Director notes the issuance to Ms. Dunn of FLG 970007 in 1997, its expiry 
on August 31, 2002, the issuance to Ms. Dunn of a replacement FGL on March 10, 
2004, with a term from September 1, 2002, to August 31, 2012, the expiry of that FGL 
on August 31, 2012, and that “the Appellants [sic] were deemed to be overholding 
tenants on a month-to-month basis … by operation of the Public Lands Administration 
Regulation.”  In respect of the 1997 and the 2002 disposition, the Director refers to the 
following passage of the covering letters sent to Ms. Dunn with the dispositions: 

 
“The Department encourages multiple use of public land and contact between 
other users (e.g. recreational users) and grazing disposition holders.  As a forest 
grazing licence does not grant the holder exclusive use of the area, this goal of 
multiple use and access can be achieved.  Availability of use/access by others is 
a consideration at the time of disposition renewal.” 
 

[148] The words in this sentence refer to renewal.  The Director’s legal submissions are 
to the effect that, once the dispositions expire, they “no longer exist in law” and that 
“once a disposition no longer exists at law, it is not capable of being renewed.”  The 
Director’s Written Submissions make no effort to explain the many occasions in the Record 
when the Director’s officials use the term ‘renew’ in relation to the facts of this case.   
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[149] The Director’s submissions on the facts of the case are that, on April 15, 2014, 
the Director made a decision “to decrease the size of the area available to the 
Appellants for grazing.”  The authority for this decision, and the remaining boundaries 
after the alleged decision of April 15, 2014, are described in paragraph 29 of the 
Director’s initial Written Submissions: 

 
“Pursuant to his authority under the PLAR section 64(1), the Director decreased 
the size of the area available for grazing to the Appellants by removing those 
lands that were suitable for surface materials development because of the 
conflict between gravel extraction and grazing, and to facilitate … [Minich’s] … 
SMC operations.  Further, the Director removed lands across the East River Road 
because these lands were stranded from the Appellant’s main grazing area 
making them inoperable for grazing.” 

 
The Director then submits that the time had expired for appeal from this alleged 
decision of April 15, 2014.   
 
[150] As noted above, the Board does not accept the submission that a decision was 
taken on April 15, 2014.  There is no document in the Record dated April 15, 2014, 
documenting a decision by the Director on that date.  Documents in the record reveal 
that April 15, 2014, was set as a date by which Ms. Dunn could provide comment on 
Mr. Hugelschaffer’s proposal to reduce the boundaries of the FGL; and, after April 15, 
2014, the Director’s officials were discussing ‘options’ with respect to the FGL.  The 
Board finds that a decision had not yet been taken by the Director on April 15, 2014.    
 
[151] The Director does not specifically refer to the Disposition signed by the Director 
on June 18, 2014.  Nor does the Record contain any covering letter which may have 
been sent to Ms. Dunn with this disposition.  There are references in the Record to the 
fact that Ms. Dunn would be advised of her appeal rights when a disposition was issued 
to her, and the Board considers that this would likely have been included with a 
covering letter to be sent with the disposition signed by the Director on June 18, 2014.  
Both the 1997 disposition, and the 2004 disposition (effective as of 2002), were sent to 
Ms. Dunn with a covering letter.   

 
[152] The Record before the Board does not establish, on a balance of probabilities, 
how or when the disposition signed on June 18, 2014, was transmitted to Ms. Dunn.  

 
[153] The Board finds that, by October 1, 2014, Ms. Dunn would have been aware of 
this disposition signed by the Director on June 18, 2014.  
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[154]  The email of October 1, 2014, (the decision under appeal) does refer to the 
disposition signed by the Director on June 18, 2014.  In respect of the decision under 
appeal, the emails from Mr. Schleppe of October 1, 2014, the Director submits that: 

 
• “[a]s of October 1, 2014, AEP had not made a decision about the issuance of 

a replacement FGL”; 
 

• “[o]n September 30, 2014, AEP met with the Appellants [sic] and offered 
them [sic] a replacement FGL for the New Lands only or for the New Lands 
plus additional lands to add grazing capacity”; and 
 

• “[t]he October 1, 2014 email only communicated one of a number of the 
Director’s offers of a replacement FGL for the New Lands as negotiations 
between the parties continued to take place.” 

 
The Director’s Decision of October 1, 2014, itself states that the boundary of FGL 
970007 “has been changed at renewal” and that “the renewal documents have been 
provided for your signature.”  The Director’s only submission on this specific point is 
contained in its Rebuttal Submissions: 
 

“the Director states that his use of the phrase ‘the boundary of FGL 970007 has 
been changed’ is in reference to his April 15, 2014 decision in which he had 
decreased the size of the lands available to the Appellants for grazing and the 
discussion about a replacement FGL reflected the change already made.” 

 
[155] The Director’s Counsel therefore does not refer, in any way, to the disposition 
signed by the Director on June 18, 2014.  It would have been helpful to the Board if the 
Director had provided submissions concerning that disposition, the repeated use of the 
term ‘renewal’ by the Director’s officials in relation to FGL 970007, or to documents in 
the Record which speak to the following: 
 

• a 60 day period for Ms. Dunn to sign the disposition signed by the Director on 
June 18, 2014;  
 

• the expiry of the 60 day period without signature from Ms. Dunn; 
 

• the extension of that 60 day period to the end of September, 2014; and  
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• the further extension of that time to October 14, 2014 as per the Director’s 
email of October 1, 2014.   

 
[156] The Board does not accept the Director’s submission that, as of October 1, 2014, 
a decision about a replacement disposition had not been taken.  The Record contains a 
disposition signed by the Director on June 18, 2014. 
 
[157] The Director also quotes the letter of January 15, 2015, and submits that: 

“AEP advised the Appellants that they had no further right or interest in the New 
Lands and were not allowed to make any use of them.” 

As noted above, the Board has found that this contravenes the stay issued by Appeals 
Coordinator and confirmed by the Panel.   

[158] The Director’s position on the law is: 
 

• [n]owhere in the Public Lands Act or the PLAR does it provide the Director 
with authority to renew a disposition that has expired; 
 

• a disposition expires at the end of its term, and then “it no longer exists in law”; 
 

• a disposition which no longer exists in law is not capable of being renewed; 
 

• only when each of the conditions in s. 17(1) of the Public Lands 
Administration Regulations are satisfied does the Director have authority to 
exercise his discretion to renew a disposition.  Only if the holder of the 
disposition is in compliance with the Public Lands Act, the PLAR, and the 
terms and conditions of the disposition, can the Director decide to renew a 
disposition. In any other circumstance, the Director is without authority to do 
so. In any event, there is no disposition to renew in this appeal; 
 

• section 64(1)(b) of the Public Lands Administration Regulation provides that 
the Director may amend a grazing licence to increase or decrease the size of 
the licenced area at any time; 
 

• section 20(3)(b) of the Public Lands Administration Regulation provides the 
Director with authority to issue a new disposition to the former holder of the 
disposition ‘in place of the expired disposition’ on his/her own initiative or as 
a result of an application; and 
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• on April 15, 2014, the Director decreased the size of the area available to the 

Appellants [sic] for grazing pursuant to his authority under PLAR s. 64(1).  
 
[159] By way of relief, the Director asks that the Appeal be dismissed or, in the 
alternative, that the Board recommend to the Minister that the appeal be resolved by 
adopting a proposal contained in the Director’s Written Submissions. 

REASONS OF THE PANEL 
 

Analysis by the Public Lands Appeal Board  
 
[160] The appeal arises as a result of a conflict between Minich and Ms. Dunn 
regarding the Department’s actions in granting exploration and extraction dispositions 
for sand and gravel exploration and development to Minich.  The exploration disposition 
was a surface materials exploration disposition, or “SME”.  The development disposition 
was a surface materials licence, or “SMC”.  Both the SME and SMC were issued on lands 
within the boundaries of an overholding tenancy arising from a prior disposition [a 
Forest Grazing Licence, or “FGL”] which had been first issued to Ms. Dunn in 1997, and 
which had been reissued to her in 2004 for a term from 2002 to 2012. 

 
[161] The FGL issued to Ms. Dunn in 1997 had expired in 2002, and was replaced by a 
replacement FGL issued to Ms. Dunn in 2004 (but with a term from 2002 to 2012).  This 
disposition expired on August 31, 2012.  These formal dispositions authorized Ms. Dunn 
to graze horses (the 1997 – 2002 FGL) or livestock (the 2002 – 2012 FGL) for a part of 
the year on Crown land identified in the FGL, subject to terms and conditions of the FGL. 

 
[162] The FGL lands in question are near Hinton, Alberta, and are located along the 
bank of the Athabasca River.  From 1997 to 2012 Ms. Dunn’s FGL was approximately 
154 acres in size, more or less.    

 
[163] The Public Lands Administration Regulation came into force on September 12, 
2011.  It replaced the Dispositions and Fees Regulation, and consolidated into one 
Regulation the provisions of the Forest Recreation Regulation, Castle Special 
Management Regulation and the Unauthorized use of Public Land and Recovery of 
Penalty Regulation.  At all material times, s. 18 of the Public Lands Administration 
Regulation anticipated that a holder of a disposition could make an application for 
renewal.   

[164] Ms. Dunn never applied for a renewal of her disposition.  Accordingly, the Board 
need not determine if Ms. Dunn would have been beyond the one year limit for 
applying for renewal in any case.   
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[165] After Ms. Dunn’s FGL expired in 2012, Ms. Dunn was deemed by operation of ss. 
20(3)(b) of the Public Lands Administration Regulation to be an overholding tenant on a 
month to month basis in respect of the subject land comprising the FGL.  The Director 
administered the expired FGL as if it continued to exist under the terms and conditions 
applicable prior to expiry. 

 
[166] In 2013, during the period of overholding tenancy, the Department received 
from a third party, Minich Oilfield Services [“Minich”], an application for an SME.  The 
Department first told Minich that it had to obtain Ms. Dunn’s consent to undertake the 
exploration activity authorized by the SME.  Minich’s efforts to obtain consent from Ms. 
Dunn were refused by Ms. Dunn, and were allegedly met with threats by Ms. Dunn’s 
husband.  

 
[167] The Department later reversed its decision requiring Minich to obtain consent of 
Ms. Dunn for the exploration activity under the SME.  Minich completed the exploration 
activity authorized by the SME by entering the lands to which the overholding tenancy 
was applicable without Ms. Dunn’s consent. 

 
[168] Ms. Dunn then asserted an intent to appeal, and complained about persecution 
and about damage said to have been caused by the exploration activity. She wrote to 
the Premier, and to Department officials.  Ms. Dunn’s complaints about damage said to 
have been caused by the exploration activity were investigated by Department officials 
and found to be unfounded.   
 
[169] In addition to writing to the Premier, Ms. Dunn wrote to Tenille Kupsch, asserting 
an intent to appeal the decision to issue the SME.127  The Record in this case contains 
no evidence of an appeal ever being filed with, or pursued before, the Surface Rights 
Board, or any other entity.     
 
[170] Later in 2013, Minich applied for a formal disposition [“the SMC”] to occupy some 
4.1 acres of land within the overholding tenancy arising from the FGL for the purpose of 
extracting sand and gravel by surface excavation.  Minich was required to provide a 
statement of consent from Ms. Dunn with its application for an SMC.   

 
[171] The consent which Minich sought from Ms. Dunn in 2013 was in relation to 
withdrawal of the 4.1 acres of lands for an SMC from the boundaries of the 154 acre 
overholding tenancy arising from the expired FGL.  Ms. Dunn would not give this 
consent to Minich.   

 
[172] The Director then took the position that Ms. Dunn’s consent was necessary for 
operation of the extraction activity authorized by the SMC (rather than for the issuance 
of the SMC).  Ms. Dunn refused this consent, also.  

127 Record, Tab 9, Letter of Appeal from P. Dunn to Tenille Kupsch, May 10, 2013. 
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[173] Reasonable efforts were made by the Director’s officials to resolve the dispute 
between Minich and Ms. Dunn.  These efforts included participation of Gail Dunn, the 
Constituency Manager for the Yellowhead Constituency.  All efforts in this respect were 
ultimately unsuccessful.  However, on April 24, 2014, a meeting between the Director’s 
officials and Ms. Dunn led the Director to understand that Ms. Dunn would be prepared 
to accept a new FGL with a smaller size.   

 
[174] The Director’s officials who attended that meeting identified the next steps for 
dispositions to make the offer to Ms. Dunn, including a reference to the PLAB appeal.128  
(underlining added) 

 
[175] In late May of 2014, after the SMC was issued to Minich, but before the 
replacement FGL was signed by the Director, Ms. Dunn communicated to the Director 
that she was not willing to accept a new FGL with a smaller size.   

 
[176] On June 18, 2014, the Director signed a replacement FGL to Ms. Dunn.  In the 
circumstances of the case, the Director’s action in this regard were authorized by s. 
15(4) of the Act, and s. 20(3) and s. 64(1)(b) of the Regulation.   

 
[177] The replacement FGL was signed by the Director on June 18, 2014, and had a 
term from 2012 to 2022.  The boundaries of the replacement FGL excluded the 4.1 
acres of land which were the subject of the SMC, and also excluded approximately 46 
acres of additional gravel bearing lands which had been within the boundaries of the 
FGL.  The replacement FGL was therefore approximately 100 acres in size, more or less 
(whereas the prior FGL was 154 acres in size, more or less).   

 
[178] Between June and October, 2014, staff of the Director met with Ms. Dunn on 
numerous occasions in an effort to identify additional lands which might be added to 
the boundaries of the replacement FGL in order to make up for the loss of some 50 
acres of sand and gravel bearing lands.  All reasonable efforts in this respect have been 
made, and have failed.  

 
[179] Ms. Dunn did not sign anything by the end of September, 2014.  On October 1, 
2014, the Director therefore communicated to Ms. Dunn the decision which is the 
subject of this appeal.   

 
[180] This is not a case of renewal of a formal disposition.  Ms. Dunn held FGL 970007 
from 2002 to 2012.  That FGL expired, and Ms. Dunn did not make an application for its 
renewal at any time.  A formal application for renewal is required by s. 17 of the Public 
Lands Administration Regulations and is subject to the formalities in s. 9(1) and (6) of 

128 Record, Tab 69, Email from Helen Newsham, April 25, 2014, at 10:56 am. 

50 | P a g e  
 

                                                           



those Regulations.  Where a formal application for renewal is made, s. 10 of the 
Regulations confers upon the Director authority to act in relation to the Application. 
 
[181] Since Ms. Dunn did not apply for a renewal of FGL 970007, she was deemed to 
be an overholding tenant on a month-to-month basis in respect of the subject land.  
The terms and conditions of the overholding tenancy were the same as those which had 
been in place under FGL 970007.   
 
[182] Since this was an overholding tenancy, the Director could have registered its 
expiry without notice to Ms. Dunn by virtue of s. 20(1) of the Regulations. Alternatively, 
the Director could have issued a formal disposition to the holder of the expired 
disposition in place of the expired disposition, whether or not an application had been 
made for the formal disposition.   
 
[183] At all material times prior to the appeal by Ms. Dunn to this Board, the Director’s 
staff acted as if they could renew the disposition to Ms. Dunn.  The words ‘renew’ or 
‘renewal’ were used by the Director’s staff in relation to the issuance of a disposition to 
Ms. Dunn in order to bring her overholding tenancy to a conclusion.  The Board finds 
that the Director and staff used the words ‘renew’ and ‘renewal’ in a generic, rather 
than a technical sense, to refer to the issuance of a disposition by the Director which 
would bring Ms. Dunn’s period of overholding tenancy to a conclusion.   
 
[184] Legally, the Director has authority to issue a replacement disposition to an 
overholding tenant, without application, by the provisions of s. 20(3)(b) of the Public 
Lands Administration Regulation.  For this to be legally effective, however, the Director 
must ‘issue’ the replacement disposition in accordance with s. 39 of the Act. 
 
[185] Section 15(4) of the Act, and s. 64(1)(b) of the Regulation, augment and 
complement the power of the Director under s. 20(3)(b).  These provisions authorize 
amendment of the terms and conditions, and boundaries, of the replacement 
disposition, respectively.  The Board finds that the conflict between Ms. Dunn and 
Minich was a reasonable basis for the exercise of powers under s. 15(4) of the Act, and 
s. 20(3) and s. 64(1)(b) of the Regulations, by the Director. 

 
[186] When the Director signs a replacement licence in this way, the provisions of s. 39 of 
the Act apply.  In the ordinary course, the disposition is legally effective when it is signed 
by the Director and issued (in 2 copies, by mail or delivery), even though it is not yet 
signed by the disposition holder.  If the disposition holder fails to sign the disposition within 
60 days of its issuance as aforesaid, the Director is then able to cancel the disposition.   
 

 
[187] This case is not ordinary.  The Board finds as a fact that the evidence is not 
sufficient, on a balance of probabilities, to establish that the replacement disposition 
signed by the Director on June 18, 2014, was actually ‘issued’ to Ms. Dunn within the 
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definition of the term ‘issue’ in s. 39(1) of the Act.  No documentation respecting the 
delivery is included in the Director’s Record, other than email from Caroline Hiew 
asserting delivery “of the renewal package” by ordinary mail.  This email is 
grammatically incorrect, and does not define what was in “the renewal package.”  This 
email does not establish, in the opinion of the Board, that 2 or more copies of the 
disposition were sent or delivered to Ms. Dunn.   
 
[188] The absence of adequate proof of issuance is concerning to the Board because 
the Director’s staff were clear that, when the replacement disposition was “issued”, Ms. 
Dunn would be advised of her appeal rights.  This should have been done via covering 
letter sent with the disposition; but, no such covering letter is included in the Record.  
Both prior dispositions had a covering letter which is included in the Record.  Given the 
history of the dispute with Ms. Dunn, its very high political profile, the enormous 
amount of time spent on Ms. Dunn’s ‘issues’ by the Department, and the recurrent 
history of problems in the delivery of documents to Ms. Dunn which were well known to 
the Director, it would seem to the Board more appropriate for the Director to have 
delivered the two copies of the replacement disposition to Ms. Dunn by an appropriate 
form of delivery which would have had proof of delivery associated with it.  

 
[189] Further, there is a history of administrative errors made by the Director’s staff in 
relation to this case.  These include: 
 

• requiring Minich to obtain the consent of Ms. Dunn to exploration activity 
under the SME; 
 

• advising a former Minister that imposing this requirement upon Minich was a 
legal obligation; 
 

• failing to send to Ms. Dunn a letter dated Friday May 10, 2013, which 
addressed the issues that were brought up on a May 3, 2013 meeting in 
Hinton; and  
 

• issuing the SMC to Minich authorizing extraction of the wrong substance. 
 

[190] The Board is satisfied that the disposition was signed by the Director on June 18, 
2014, but is not satisfied on a balance of probabilities that the disposition was ‘issued’ 
to Ms. Dunn in accordance with s. 39(1) of the Act.   

 
[191] The situation is therefore that, on October 1, 2014, after the replacement 
disposition was signed by the Director but before the replacement disposition was 
properly ‘issued’, Ms. Dunn was told she must she must choose, by October 14, 2014, 
between one of two forms of disposition, and that if she did not accept one of these 
two forms of disposition her overholding tenancy would be cancelled.   
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[192] This made Ms. Dunn a person to whom a decision about the issuance a 
disposition issued under the Act had been made within s. 211(a) of the Public Lands 
Administration Regulations.  The finding of the Board on this point is final by virtue of s. 
212(3) of the Public Lands Administration Regulations, and this is determinative of the 
submissions of the Director which dispute the jurisdiction of the Board to hear and 
decide this appeal. 
 
[193] In the factual context of this case, the issuance of a replacement disposition 
signed by the Director on June 18, 2014, was a reasonable exercise of powers 
conferred on the Director by s. 20(3) of the Public Lands Administration Regulation, 
complemented and augmented by s. 15(4) of the Act and s. 64(1)(b) of the Regulation.  
All reasonable efforts to accommodate Ms. Dunn’s concerns, other than through the 
formal issuance of a replacement disposition, have been tried and have been 
unsuccessful. 

 
COSTS 

 
[194]   The Board considers that costs of this appeal should not be awarded to any 
party. 

OBSERVATIONS 
 
[195] The Board is of the view that the Record reveals numerous uncertainties 
amongst the Director’s officials, and that these may be attributed to:  

 
• the absence of policy development in respect of the renewal process for a 

grazing licence; and also  
 

• the dynamics of the relationship between gravel exploration and extraction 
and grazing licence tenure.   

The Board is of the view that policy development in these areas would be beneficial in 
avoiding the kinds of errors and uncertainties which occurred in this case. 
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RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
[196] The Board is obligated, within 30 days after the completion of the hearing of the 
appeal, to submit a report to the Minister, including recommendations and the 
representations or a summary of the representations that were made to it.  The report 
may recommend confirmation, reversal or variance of the decision appealed. 
 
[197] The Board recommends that the Minister:  

 
• vary the decision appealed from by exercising powers conferred on the 

Minister by s. 124(3) of the Act, to make the decision which the Director 
could have made in order to resolve the dispute between Ms. Dunn and 
Minich;  

 
• order that the replacement disposition signed by the Director on June 18, 

2014, should now be formally issued to Ms. Dunn by the Director with the 
following direction: 

 
o that if Ms. Dunn fails to execute the replacement disposition signed 

by the Director on June 18, 2014, by signing it and returning it to the 
Director within 60 days of the date of the Order of the Minister 
conveying the Minister’s decision in this appeal, then s. 39 of the 
Public Lands Act authorizes the Director to cancel the disposition;  

 
• order that the Director’s actions to cancel the replacement disposition signed 

by the Director on June 18, 2014, which were taken during the period of the 
stay issued by the Board, be revoked. 
 

• dismiss the appeal 14-0024 without costs.  
 

Dated at Edmonton, Alberta, on October 5, 2015. 

“original signed” 
______________________________ 
Eric McAvity, Q.C., Chair 
 
“original signed” 
______________________________ 
Dr. David Evans 
 
“original signed” 
______________________________ 
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